SJSU SAN JOSÉ STATE UNIVERSITY



Modeling Operational Performance of Urban Roads with Heterogeneous Traffic Conditions

Swapneel R. Kodupuganti Sonu Mathew Srinivas S. Pulugurtha



MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE

transweb.sjsu.edu

Mineta Transportation Institute

Founded in 1991, the Mineta Transportation Institute (MTI), an organized research and training unit in partnership with the Lucas College and Graduate School of Business at San José State University (SJSU), increases mobility for all by improving the safety, efficiency, accessibility, and convenience of our nation's transportation system. Through research, education, workforce development, and technology transfer, we help create a connected world. MTI leads the <u>Mineta Consortium for Transportation Mobility</u> (MCTM) funded by the U.S. Department of Transportation and the <u>California State University Transportation Consortium</u> (CSUTC) funded by the State of California through Senate Bill 1. MTI focuses on three primary responsibilities:

Research

MTI conducts multi-disciplinary research focused on surface transportation that contributes to effective decision making. Research areas include: active transportation; planning and policy; security and counterterrorism; sustainable transportation and land use; transit and passenger rail; transportation engineering; transportation finance; transportation technology; and workforce and labor. MTI research publications undergo expert peer review to ensure the quality of the research.

Education and Workforce

To ensure the efficient movement of people and products, we must prepare a new cohort of transportation professionals who are ready to lead a more diverse, inclusive, and equitable transportation industry. To help achieve this, MTI sponsors a suite of workforce development and education opportunities. The Institute supports educational programs offered by the Lucas Graduate School of Business: a Master of Science in Transportation Management, plus graduate certificates that include High-Speed and Intercity Rail Management and Transportation Security Management. These flexible programs offer live online classes so that working transportation professionals can pursue an advanced degree regardless of their location.

Information and Technology Transfer

MTI utilizes a diverse array of dissemination methods and media to ensure research results reach those responsible for managing change. These methods include publication, seminars, workshops, websites, social media, webinars, and other technology transfer mechanisms. Additionally, MTI promotes the availability of completed research to professional organizations and works to integrate the research findings into the graduate education program. MTI's extensive collection of transportation-related publications is integrated into San José State University's world-class Martin Luther King, Jr. Library.

Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. MTI's research is funded, partially or entirely, by grants from the California Department of Transportation, the California State University Office of the Chancellor, the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, and the U.S. Department of Transportation, who assume no liability for the contents or use thereof. This report does not constitute a standard specification, design standard, or regulation.

Report 20-45

Modeling Operational Performance of Urban Roads with Heterogeneous Traffic Conditions

Swapneel R. Kodupuganti Sonu Mathew Srinivas S. Pulugurtha

January 2021

A publication of the Mineta Transportation Institute Created by Congress in 1991

College of Business San José State University San José, CA 951920219

TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

1. Report No.	2. Government Accession No.	3. Recipient's Cata	log No.
20-45			0
4. Title and Subtitle		5. Report Date	
Modeling Operational Performance of Urban Roads	s with Heterogeneous	January 2021	
Traffic Conditions		6. Performing Orga	anization Code
7. Authors		8. Performing Org	anization Report
Swapneel R. Kodupuganti, MS, Sonu Mathew, PhD, Srinivas S. Pulugurtha, PhD		CA-MTI-1802	2
9. Performing Organization Name and Address		10. Work Unit No.	
Mineta Transportation Institute			
College of Business		11. Contract or Gra	ant No.
San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219		69A3551747127	7
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address		13. Type of Report	and Period Covered
U.S. DOT		Final Report	
		14. Sponsoring Agency Code	
15. Supplemental Notes			
DOI: 10.31979/mti.2021.1802			
air quality, and safety in many urban areas. Transport of users of alternative modes of transportation (e.g., p there are no widely accepted methods, nor there is er mobility of the transportation system. Therefore, this traffic conditions to improve the mobility and reliabi extension, which connects Old Concord Rd and th Charlotte, North Carolina, was considered for travel on-street bicycle lanes, bus/LRT routes and stop comprehensively considered from a multimodal persp connects University City Blvd and Mallard Creek simulation-based operational analysis. Vissim traffic maximum queue length at nine intersections to evalua combined. The statistical significance of variations with the Blue Line LRT extension. However, a decr 85) and cross-streets. While a decrease in vehicle d most cases after the LRT is in operation, the cross-s in operation. The current pedestrian and bicycling intersections. The methodological approaches from t identify remedial solutions from a multimodal persp	ation managers and planners have plan public transportation, walking, and bicy nough evidence to justify whether such j project researches the operational perfor lity of people and goods. A 4-mile stret ne University of North Carolina at Ch time reliability analysis. The influence s/stations, and street network characc pective. Likewise, a 2.5-mile-long secti- Church Rd on N Tryon St in Charlo simulation software was used to comp ate the influence of vehicles, LRT, ped- in travel time reliability were particular ease in travel time reliability on some li elay on northbound and southbound a treets of N Tryon St incurred a relative g activity levels seemed insignificant to his research can be used to assess the pe- ective.	had a catalytic effect of ned for new facilities t ccling) over the next d plans are instrumental rmance of urban roads ch of the Blue Line lig arlotte's main campus of crosswalks, sidewal teristics on travel tir on of the Blue Line L btte, North Carolina, bute and compare dela estrians, and bicyclists rly less in the case of nks was observed on the pproaches of N Tryor ly higher increase in d to have an influence rformance of a transpor	on traine congestion, to cater to the needs becade. However, in improving with heterogeneous that rail transit (LRT) s on N Tryon St in lks, trails, greenways, ne reliability were RT extension, which was considered for y, queue length, and , individually and/or links on N Tryon St he parallel route (I- n St was observed in elay after the LRT is on vehicle delay at ortation facility and
17. Key Words	18. Distribution Statement		
Heterogeneous, Vehicle, Light Rail Transit,	No restrictions. This document is available to the public through The		
Pedestrian, Bicyclist, Travel Time, Delay, Simulation	National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA 22161		
19. Security Classif. (of this report)	20. Security Classif. (of this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price
Unclassified	Unclassified	74	

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)

Copyright © 2021

by Mineta Transportation Institute

All rights reserved.

DOI: 10.31979/mti.2021.1802

Mineta Transportation Institute

College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

Tel: (408) 924-7560 Email: mineta-institute@sjsu.edu

transweb.sjsu.edu/research/1802

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This report is prepared based on information collected for a research project funded by the United States Department of Transportation, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology (USDOT/OST-R), University Transportation Centers Program (Grant # 69A3551747127). The authors sincerely thank the staff of the North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT), the Regional Integrated Transportation Information System (RITIS), and the city of Charlotte Department of Transportation (CDOT) for their help with the data required for this research.

This report is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. The views, opinions, findings, and conclusions reflected in this paper are the responsibility of the authors only and do not represent the official policy or position of the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology (USDOT/OST-R), the transit administration of any state or local agency, nor the University of North Carolina at Charlotte or other entity. The authors are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

CONTENTS

List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	viii
Executive Summary	1
I. Introduction and Conceptual Background	3
1.1 Need for this Research	3
1.2 Research Objectives	5
1.3 Organization of the Report	6
II. Literature Review	7
2.1 LRT and Transportation System Report	7
2.2 Traffic Simulation Software to Assess Transportation System Performance	9
III. Study Corridor and Selected Intersection	12
3.1 Geometric Conditions at Selected Intersections	15
IV. Assessments Based on Travel Time and Travel Time Reliability (TTR)	21
4.1 Methodology	21
4.2 Analysis of Travel Time Data	25
4.3 Corridor-Level Analysis	38
V. Simulation-Based Assessment	45
5.1 Analytical Scenarios	45
5.2 Methodology	47
5.3 Results Based on Simulation Analysis	51
VI. Conclusions	67
Endnotes	69
Bibliography	73
About the Authors	78

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. TTR Measures: N Tryon St (Morning Peak)	30
Table 2. TTR Measures: N Tryon St (Evening Peak)	31
Table 3. TTR Measures: I-85 Parallel Route (Morning Peak)	32
Table 4. TTR Measures: I-85 Parallel Route (Evening Peak)	33
Table 5. TTR Measures: Near Vicinity Cross-Streets (Morning Peak)	34
Table 6. TTR Measures: Near Vicinity Cross-Streets (Evening Peak)	36
Table 7. Results: Statistical Analysis	44
Table 8. Vehicle Inputs: Evening Peak Period	50
Table 9. Vehicle Delay Between Successive Intersections: Northbound Approach (No Build)	53
Table 10. Vehicle Delay Between Successive Intersections: Southbound Approach (No Build)	53
Table 11. Vehicle Delay Along Eastbound and Westbound Approaches by Intersection (No Build)	54
Table 12. Vehicle Delay Between Successive Intersections: Northbound Approach (Build but LRT is Not in Operation)	55
Table 13. Vehicle Delay Between Successive intersections: Southbound Approach (Build but LRT is Not in Operation)	55
Table 14. Vehicle Delay Along Eastbound and Westbound Approaches by Intersection (Build but LRT is Not in Operation)	56
Table 15. Vehicle Delay Between Successive Intersections: Northbound Approach (Build and LRT is in Operation)	57
Table 16. Vehicle Delay Between Successive Intersections: Southbound Approach (Build and LRT is in Operation)	57
Table 17. Vehicle Delay Along Eastbound and Westbound Approaches by the Intersection (Build and LRT is in Operation)	58
Table 18. Vehicle Delay Between Successive Intersections Based on LRT Frequency: Northbound Approach	59
Table 19. Vehicle Delay Between Successive Intersections Based on LRT Frequency: Southbound Approach	60
Table 20. Vehicle Delay Along Eastbound and Westbound Approaches by Intersection Based on LRT Frequency	60
Table 21. Vehicle Delay Results Between Successive Intersections due to Pedestrian Activity: Northbound Approach (Build and LRT is in Operation)	61

Table 22. Vehicle Delay Between Successive Intersections Due to Pedestrian Activity:	
Southbound Approach (Build and LRT is in Operation)	61
Table 23. Vehicle Delay Along Eastbound and Westbound Approaches by Intersection due to Pedestrian Activity (Build and LRT is in Operation)	62
Table 24. Vehicle Delay Between Successive Intersections due to Bicyclist Activity: Northbound Approach (Build and LRT is in Operation)	63
Table 25. Vehicle Delay Between Successive Intersections due to bicyclist Activity: Southbound Approach (Build and LRT is in Operation)	63
Table 26. Vehicle Delay Along Eastbound and Westbound Approaches by Intersection	
due to Bicyclist Activity (Build and LRT is in Operation)	64
Table 27. Queue Length at Intersections on N Tryon St	65
Table 28. Maximum Queue Length at Intersections on N Tryon St	65
Table 29. Level of Service at Intersections on N Tryon St	66

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Blue Line LRT, Charlotte, North Carolina	16
Figure 2. Study Area with Selected Links	17
Figure 3. N Tryon St & University City Blvd Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)	19
Figure 4. N Tryon St & University Pointe Blvd Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)	19
Figure 5. N Tryon St & Mccullough Dr. Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)	20
Figure 6. N Tryon St & Ken Hoffman Dr. Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)	20
Figure 7. N Tryon St & E WT Harris Blvd Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)	21
Figure 8. N Tryon St & J M Keynes Dr. Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)	22
Figure 9. N Tryon St & JW Clay Blvd Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)	22
Figure 10. N Tryon St & Institute Cir Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)	23
Figure 11. N Tryon St & E Mallard Creek Church Rd Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)	23
Figure 12. Methodological Framework for TTR-Based Assessment	24
Figure 13. Travel Time Distribution: N Tryon St Study Corridor	27
Figure 14. Interaction of the LRT System with the Moving Traffic, On-Street Bicycle Lane, and Pedestrian Crosswalks	29
Figure 15. TTR of 125+08371 Over Different Phases of LRT Operation	32
Figure 16. Cumulative Distribution of Travel Times: N Tryon St	45
Figure 17. Cumulative Distribution of Travel Times: I-85 Parallel Route	46
Figure 18. Cumulative Distribution of Travel Times: Near Vicinity Cross-Streets	47
Figure 19. N Tryon St & Institute Cir Intersection with Approaches	60

Executive Summary

Several urban areas in the United States have planned for new facilities to cater to the needs of users of alternative modes of transportation (for example, public transportation, walking, and bicycling) over the next decade. As an example, the city of Charlotte has recently extended its light rail transit (LRT) line (from South Charlotte to Uptown) to the University area in the northeast part of the region. Subsequently, there are plans to add more LRT routes and build pedestrian- and bicyclist-friendly infrastructure (for example, on-street bicycle lanes, sidewalks, crosswalks, pedestrian signals, and so on). However, there is not enough evidence to justify whether such plans are instrumental in improving mobility and enhancing the safety of the transportation system from a multimodal perspective. Further, there are no widely accepted methods to assess the influence of such facilities or transportation projects in terms of improved mobility and enhanced user safety. Therefore, the goal of this project is to research and model the operational performance of urban roads with heterogeneous traffic conditions to improve the mobility, reliability, and safety of people and goods. The objectives are:

- To collect data and comprehensively evaluate the influence of crosswalks, sidewalks, trails, greenways, on-street bicycle lanes, bus/LRT routes and stops/stations, and street network characteristics on travel time and travel time reliability (TTR) from a multimodal perspective, and
- To simulate and evaluate the influence of pedestrians, bicyclists, and public transportation system users (bus and LRT) on transportation system performance from a multimodal perspective.

First, a TTR-based approach was used to assess the influence of the LRT system on the road network within its vicinity. This approach included the influence of crosswalks, sidewalks, trails, greenways, on-street bicycle lanes, bus/LRT routes and stops/stations, and street network characteristics on travel time and TTR from a multimodal perspective. A four-mile stretch of the Blue Line LRT extension, which connects Old Concord Rd and the University of North Carolina at Charlotte's main campus in Charlotte, North Carolina (NC), was considered as the study corridor. The raw travel time data were collected from the Regional Integrated Transportation Information System (RITIS) website at one-minute intervals. The average travel time (ATT), planning time (PT), buffer time (BT), buffer time index (BTI), and planning time index (PTI) were computed for each selected link by day of the week and time of the day. Further, the TTR of the selected links on the LRT study corridor and adjacent corridors (both the parallel route and the cross-streets) were computed and compared for different scenarios: network without LRT, the sixth month of LRT operation, the twelfth month of LRT operation, and the eighteenth month of LRT operation. The research revealed that the TTR of the parallel route and cross-streets was affected by the LRT system operation. The research further revealed increased green times as vehicles along N Tryon St obtained more green time due to frequent lane closures on cross-streets.

Such lane closures were put in place in order to prioritize LRT movement and a better coordination on the LRT corridor. The benefits associated with the alternative mode/route choice for commuters may be because of the steadiness in travel time performance measured in the LRT corridor.

The simulation-based analysis was conducted using data for a 2.5-mile-long corridor along the recently extended LRT route. This approach evaluated the influence of vehicles, LRT, pedestrians, and bicyclists, individually and/or combined, on transportation system performance from a multimodal perspective. The traffic and signal data were obtained from the city of Charlotte Department of Transportation (CDoT). It is important to note that there are no midblock or unsignalized crosswalks along the study corridor. The facilities and signal timings provided for pedestrians and bicyclists at intersections seem to be adequate based on current or projected activity levels. Models were built in Vissim for the following scenarios: no LRT build, build but LRT is not in operation, build and LRT is in operation, build and LRT is in operation with pedestrian activity, and build and LRT is in operation with pedestrian & bicyclist activity. Background maps were used in Vissim to import the network characteristics for each scenario. Vehicle delay, queue length, maximum queue length, and level of service (LOS) were used as the performance measures to evaluate the influence of an LRT and related activity on the transportation system's performance. There was a decrease in vehicle delay due to the change in geometric characteristics and signal phasings/timings at some selected intersections with LRT in operation. An increase in vehicle delay was observed on the cross-street approaches, whereas only a small change in vehicle delay was observed on N Tryon St for the LRT in operation scenario. Pedestrian and bicyclist activity at some intersections was found to have nominal influence on vehicle delay.

I. Introduction

Many urban areas in the United States have seen rapid population growth during the past few decades. The growth in population has had a catalytic effect on traffic congestion, air quality, and safety in these urban areas. Declining operational performance (such as traffic congestion and air quality) and safety performance are also consequences of increasing travel demand and traffic volumes on urban roads (Vuchic 2017).¹ Congestion, in particular, is considered a "negative phenomenon" (Sierpiński 2011)² resulting from the increasing traffic volumes during peak hours, and it is one of the challenges almost every urban area faces today. Considering the pace at which the present population and travel demand growth rates are increasing, the annual delay and the forecasted nation-wide congestion costs are expected to be around 8.3 billion hours and \$192 billion in 2020 (Urban Utility Score Card 2015).³

The construction of new roads, widening of existing roads, and improved connectivity help to mitigate and address the aforementioned problems to some extent. These are long-term solutions that consume a lot of time and resources. The limited availability of rights-of-way along congested urban corridors, resource constraints (i.e., funding limitations), and the zeal to improve the sustainability of the transportation system have further motivated practitioners and researchers to explore and encourage the use of alternative modes of transportation.

Several urban areas in the United States have planned for new facilities to cater to the needs of users of alternative modes of transportation (for example, public transportation, walking, and bicycling) over the next 30 years. Streetcar, commuter rail, and light rail transit (LRT) have been popular in urban areas since the early 19th century (Young 2015).⁴ These modes help to move a larger number of people at lower operational costs and with a higher degree of reliability compared to commuter rail transit systems (Knowles 1996).⁵ The growing concern about increasing carbon emissions has been driving transportation system managers and planners to take measures to invest in public transportation systems like LRT. The construction of LRT also leads to economic development within its vicinity. Surrounding property values could go up, while travel by LRT or similar travel modes could be six times safer than automobile travel (Linda 2003).⁶

1.1 Need for This Research

LRT is considered the best-suited option for serving travel demand in "medium-sized North American cities" since the nineties (Black 1993).⁷ Transportation system managers and planners have explored constructing LRT systems from suburbs to high-density urban areas like a city's Central Business District.

In, 2017, around 543 million transit trips were reported across the United States (APTA 2019).⁸ LRT ridership was reported to have surpassed commuter rail ridership from 2009. The increase in

LRT ridership is three times the increase in commuter rail ridership since 1990. Additionally, the LRT can handle higher rates of travel demand (Black 1993).⁹

The decision to implement LRT systems and decisions about the design of the system's operational attributes are made after a comprehensive transportation planning process or a feasibility study. Pedestrian and bicyclist facilities are improved to make the LRT system more lucrative and safer for users. Additionally, the effectiveness of LRT systems in mitigating congestion and improving travel time must be monitored and frequently evaluated after implementation. Also, in the case of an at-grade design and operation, the LRT system would take up a significant portion of the right-of-way of existing streets, and the signal timings in the area must be adjusted to incorporate the LRT system's frequency of operation on the major street. Giving signal priority to the LRT system on the major street could have a negative influence on operational performances along the cross-streets. Assessing the influence of the LRT system on near-vicinity road traffic is difficult because of its complex interaction with moving traffic. In other words, the short-term and long-term effects of such changes on traffic operations are uncertain and ought to be researched.

Typical travel demand models capture the influence of large-scale transportation projects like the LRT system in a socio-economic-spatial aspect. However, it is difficult to fully understand the LRT system's influence on the region's traffic using only travel demand models. In that context, providing short-term evidence of LRT systems' influence on traffic, based on travel time reliability (TTR) indices, can be considered a significant research development. However, there is not enough evidence to support that LRT systems and alternative modes of travel are instrumental in improving mobility and enhancing the safety of the transportation system from a multimodal perspective. Further, there are no widely accepted methods to assess the influence of such facilities or transportation projects on improving mobility and enhancing user safety. Questions such as those listed below have been lingering in the minds of researchers and practitioners.

- How effective are plans proposed by practitioners to enhance connectivity and improve mobility?
- What is the influence of an LRT line, and how far could the influence of an LRT line extend (spatially) and affect the operational performance of urban roads within its vicinity?
- What is the operational performance of urban roads from a multimodal perspective?

Therefore, the first objective of this research is to evaluate the effectiveness of an LRT system with associated pedestrian and bicycling facilities in reducing travel time and improving TTR on links (i.e., short segments of a corridor) within its vicinity using travel time data. In this case, the influence of crosswalks, sidewalks, trails, greenways, on-street bicycle lanes, bus/LRT routes and stops/stations, and street network characteristics on travel time and TTR are evaluated from a multimodal perspective. Processing and analyzing travel time data and accomplishing this objective

does not, however, help reveal the influence of the LRT system, pedestrian activity, and bicyclist activity at an intersection or corridor level. This is because travel time data used and aggregated at a link-level for analysis does not help assess the interaction between various modes of travel.

This said, some unforeseen influence of the LRT system with associated pedestrian and bicycling facilities may not be captured from the travel time-based assessment. A few effects might be intricate and understanding the influence of heterogeneous traffic conditions is the key to better optimizing the LRT system. Moreover, modeling and understanding the influence of public transportation systems, walking, and bicycling allows researchers to address any shortcomings beforehand. Microscopic simulation software like Vissim serves as a platform for facilitating a detailed probing into the influence of LRT, pedestrians, and bicyclists (PTV Group 2019).⁹ The findings will aid in understanding what to expect in the future and will help public agencies to accommodate modal shift and other traffic congestion related issues, leading to desirable geometric changes like the addition of a dedicated turn-lane associated with the LRT system, pedestrian activity, and bicycling activity on transportation system performance along the study corridor using traffic simulation software.

Overall, this research aims at developing a methodological framework to assess the performance of a multimodal corridor using both data-driven and simulation-based approaches. While both travel time-based performance evaluation and simulation-based evaluation serve common research interests, they facilitate investigations with complementary capabilities. The travel time-based evaluation helps practitioners in understanding the influence from a practical standpoint, comprehensively considering all modes. It also sets up a platform to further probe into the analysis at more microscopic levels. The simulation-based evaluation helps practitioners in understanding the influence of vehicles, LRT, pedestrian activity, and bicycling activity, individually and/or combined, on operational performances at intersections.

1.2 Research Objectives

The goal of this project is to research and model the operational performance of urban roads with heterogeneous traffic conditions to improve the safety, reliability, and mobility of people and goods. The objectives of the proposed project are:

- To collect data and comprehensively evaluate the influence of crosswalks, sidewalks, trails, greenways, on-street bicycle lanes, bus/LRT routes and stops/stations, and street network characteristics on travel time and TTR from a multimodal perspective, and
- To simulate and evaluate the influence of pedestrians, bicyclists, and public transportation system users (bus and LRT) on transportation system performance from a multimodal perspective.

1.3 Organization of the Report

The remainder of the report comprises four chapters. Chapter II presents a review of past research. Chapter III summarizes the features of the study corridor and selected intersection characteristics. The travel time data collection and processing; computation of selected travel time performance measures; analysis of the LRT system in terms of improving the TTR on the LRT route, parallel route, and cross-streets are discussed in Chapter IV. Chapter V presents the methodology adopted for traffic simulation analysis and summarizes and compares results for various analytical scenarios. The conclusions from this research and the scope of future work are discussed in Chapter VI.

II. Literature Review

This chapter presents a review of the literature on LRT and transportation systems' performance, as well as the use of traffic simulation software to investigate the effect of vehicular traffic, LRT, pedestrians, and bicyclists on transportation system performance.

2.1 LRT and Transportation System Performance

The Transportation Research Board (TRB)'s Committee on LRT defines an LRT as "a metropolitan electric railway system characterized by its ability to operate single cars or short trains along exclusive rights of way at ground level, on aerial structures, in subways or, occasionally, in streets, and to board and discharge passengers at the track or car-floor level" (Chandler and Hoel 2004).¹⁰ The capability of the LRT system to alleviate congestion has been analyzed by many researchers in the past (Clark 1984, Knowles 1992, Garrett 2004).^{11,12,13} The capability of the LRT system to stimulate transit-oriented development initiatives has also been studied in the past (Arrington and Cervero 2008).¹⁴

Good quality service attracts personal vehicle users to the LRT system, thus reducing traffic congestion (Knowles 1996).¹⁵ On the contrary, LRT systems' capability to reduce congestion has also been questioned in some studies. Mackett and Edwards (1998)¹⁵ state that the positive effect of many rail-based transit systems throughout the world on traffic congestion is less than earlier projections by prior researchers and practitioners.

Regional travel demand models have long been used as part of large-scale transit planning processes to examine transportation projects/improvements, such as an LRT system on network travel times (Ewing et al. 2014).¹⁶ However, the outcomes from the outputs of regional travel demand models could differ from what may be observed in the real world.

The analysis of LRT's effect on road traffic within its vicinity requires a comprehensive understanding of traffic and LRT signalization. Venglar et al. (1994)¹⁷ explored the possibility of measuring the effect of the LRT system using various factors such as delay to automobile occupants, delay to LRT users, "person-delay" at intersections, the volume-to-capacity ratio at intersections, queue lengths, the number of stops, and travel times on adjacent streets. Another measure recommended for the quantification of the influence of the LRT is the length of the automobile queue accumulated during the passage of an LRT (Bates and Lee 1982).¹⁸ Islam et al. (2016)¹⁹ studied the applicability of transit signal priority strategies in improving the reliability of LRT operation with less of an effect on the general traffic. They computed various measures like total travel time, total delay, and average speed to evaluate the corridor performance.

The effect of dedicated and intermittent transit lanes on arterial traffic was also studied in the past (Eichler and Daganzo 2006, Chiabaut et al. 2018, Chiabaut and Barcet 2019).²⁰⁻²² As the dedicated transit lanes significantly disrupt the general traffic, Eichler and Daganzo (2006)²⁰ observed that bus lanes with intermittent priority reduce the general traffic interference. Similarly, Chiabaut and Barcet (2019)²² proposed the use of intermittent transit lanes with transit signal priority as a better alternative to the dedicated bus transit line. Chiabaut et al. (2018)²¹ assessed whether perimeter control could be an efficient alternative to dedicated bus transit lanes. According to their findings, the perimeter control technique improved road capacity while ensuring the same transit system efficiency.

Kattan et al. (2013)²³ studied the effect of large-scale network disruptions (due to LRT construction) on users' daily commutes. They reported a major change in mode choice during the LRT construction period. Also, driving experience, employment status, travel time, and the purpose of travel, as well as advanced traveler information, were found to significantly influence the mode choice decision-making.

TTR, which provides insights into the operational improvements of arterial roads, can be used as an effective mobility performance measure (McLeod et al. 2012, Schrank et al. 2015).^{24, 3} Studies related to the measures of the effectiveness of LRT on arterial traffic, based on TTR measures, are found to be very limited.

The average travel time (ATT) indicates the nominal level of congestion in a road link. It is typically an indicator of the expected travel time. TTR measures include buffer measures, statistical measures, and delayed trip indicators. The United States Department of Transportation (USDOT) proposed four different measures of TTR. They are planning time (PT), planning time index (PTI), buffer time (BT), and buffer time index (BTI). PT is the 95th percentile travel time, while BT and BTI are measures of trip reliability that indicate the extra time needed to be on time for 95% of trips. PT and BT indicate the variability in travel times from a road user's perspective and represent the level of reliability for the transportation system over time.

According to the report published by FHWA (2005),²⁵ the PTI can be used as a measure of average congestion in a corridor as it gives a clear picture of the total travel time needed for an on-time arrival in a congested condition compared to a light traffic condition.

Wakabayashi et al. (2003)²⁶ studied commuters' attitudes toward the TTR while considering alternative modes of transportation. They further studied travelers' decision making in choosing their mode of transportation after a public transportation service closure and concluded the effect of travel time variations in the selection process. Pulugurtha et al. (2017)²⁷ surveyed transportation system users' perceptions of TTR measures and monetized the value of reliability to evaluate transportation projects and alternatives.

Limitations in Past Research

In summary, the influence of LRT operations on road traffic, such as inducing delays at intersections and reducing the capacity of the road, was studied by a few researchers in the past. The applicability of travel time and TTR measures as well as the perceptions of users on TTR were also explored and researched in the past. TTR measures and travel time are considered as valuable measures by both practitioners and users. However, travel time and TTR measures were not explored when evaluating the influence of LRT systems on road traffic in nearby vicinities. Neither were the spatial and temporal effects due to LRT operation been studied in the past.

2.2 Traffic Simulation Software to Assess Transportation System Performance

Signal priority for public transportation affects the vehicular traffic and other modes of transportation. Yedlin and Lieberman (1981)²⁸ conducted simulation studies to identify ideal conditions that benefit transit operations. In that study, several factors that could influence public transportation were considered, and interrelations were examined between the factors.

Gomes et al. (2004)²⁹ constructed and calibrated a microsimulation model in Vissim using a 15mile freeway stretch with a high occupancy lane in Pasadena, California as the study corridor. The steps for calibrating the model included identification of geometric features, processing traffic data, analyzing the occurrence of bottlenecks, Vissim coding, and calibration based on traffic volume. The steps were adequate to calibrate the model with relatively few modifications to driver behavior parameters in Vissim. A similar study to identify traffic bottlenecks and calibrate the network model was conducted by Xuegang et al. (2007)³⁰ using the San Francisco Bay Area, California as the study area.

Stirzaker and Hussein (2007)³¹ evaluated the benefits of transportation management strategies to maximize the utilization of road infrastructure. Simulation modeling was used, and researchers added a dedicated public transportation bus lane, a high occupancy vehicle lane, and a general traffic lane. The simulation results indicated a 19% decrease in travel time along with a 68% improvement in TTR due to the addition of a bus lane to the existing road infrastructure.

To fully understand the operational performance of urban roads with heterogeneous traffic conditions, many researchers have proposed the use of microscopic simulation-based analysis. Marwah and Singh (2000)³² conducted a simulation study on Indian traffic conditions to evaluate the operational classification of urban traffic. A calibrated traffic simulation model was developed to analyze the study area. Based on the simulation results, operating characteristics were identified under different scenarios to evaluate the level of service (LOS). The operational characteristics for

the four levels of service were identified as road occupancy, journey speed of cars (and twowheelers), and vehicles per unit distance.

Cellular automation is an efficient microsimulation tool that uses a finite element model to mimic and evaluate physical systems over space and time, such as traffic (Wolf 1999, Deo 2007, Gundaliya et al. 2008, Tonguz et al. 2009, Yuan et al. 2008).^{33–37} Deo (2007)³⁴ used twocomponent cellular automation to model the heterogeneous motorized traffic flow. The vehicles were classified into two types (short and long) and the research was conducted for various types of roads such as the single-lane, multi-lane controlled vs. uncontrolled intersections, and roundabouts. Gundaliya et al. (2008)³⁵ integrated cellular automation and a traffic simulation software model to analyze the operational performance of an arterial road. Input parameters such as cell size, lane width, lane length, and vehicle size were considered. The model was calibrated using the outputs from Vissim. The simulation runs were significantly faster in the case of the Nagel–Schreckenberg model (a theoretical model for the simulation of freeway traffic) compared to grid-based and Vissim models. However, the grid-based approach was proposed to be appropriate for heterogeneous conditions due to the ease of implementation.

Vanajakshi et al. (2009)³⁸ developed a location-based travel time prediction algorithm using the Kalman Filter technique for a bus route under heterogeneous conditions. They concluded that the proposed technique is a viable option for evaluating the effect of heterogeneous traffic conditions. Coppola and Rosati (2009)³⁹ also used the Kalman Filter technique to assess the effects of information provided in a public transportation network under different network conditions. They concluded that providing information on waiting time results in an increase of average waiting time.

Kinderyte-Poškiene and Sokolovskij (2008)⁴⁰ studied the effect of the presence of multimodal facilities along a traffic corridor. Traffic control elements such as yield signs, stop signs, speed limits, traffic signals, access control, parking control, etc. were considered in their study. The traffic control devices were classified into two categories to examine their effect on the safety and mobility of the traffic stream. The results indicated that traffic elements such as the signalized pedestrian crossings, road message signs, access points, traffic signs (speed limits and stop signs), transit lines and stops, and traffic calming devices contribute to reducing the frequency of the crashes. Similarly, traffic elements such as one-way streets, priority roads, reversible lanes, bus lines (and bus stop design), parking control, and traffic signal control at intersections were observed to improve the mobility of a traffic stream.

Wu et al. (2017)⁴¹ evaluated pedestrian/vehicle conflicts at signalized intersections using Vissim traffic simulation software and the surrogate safety assessment model (SSAM). They observed that Vissim software underestimated the number of pedestrian/vehicle conflicts, as illegal pedestrian behavior could not be modeled with that software. Kim and Park (2019)⁴² used Vissim traffic

simulation software and SSAM to mimic pedestrian and vehicular interactions. They concluded that the effect of pedestrians on vehicular traffic at signalized intersections varies based on geometric features of the intersections.

Limitations in Past Research

Extant literature documents several efforts to assess transportation system performance using traffic simulation software. However, not many studies have evaluated the influence of the LRT system, pedestrian activity, and bicyclist activity on transportation system performance along corridors.

III. Study Corridor and Selected Intersections

Economically, the city of Charlotte, North Carolina is one of the fastest-growing cities in the United States. Affordable cost of living, growing job opportunities, and favorable weather conditions throughout have led to high population growth rates over the past few years (Charlotte Stories 2018). In addition to the growth in population, urban sprawl has led to increased travel demand, with a catalytic effect on mobility and congestion on roads in Charlotte. An annual congestion cost of around \$770 million for 2014 was reported for the city (TTI 2015).³

The Blue Line LRT is the Charlotte region's first LRT service. It is 18.9 miles long and extends from I-485 at South Boulevard to the University of North Carolina (UNC) Charlotte's main campus. The first section was opened in November 2007 and runs from I-485 at South Boulevard to Uptown Charlotte. This section is 9.6 miles long with 15 stations and seven park and ride facilities. The second section from uptown Charlotte to UNC Charlotte's main campus was opened in March 2018 (Figure 1). This extended section is 9.3 miles long with 11 stations and four park and ride facilities. Weekday service operates from 5:26 AM to 1:26 AM. The service is available every 7.5 minutes during weekday rush hour and every 15 minutes during non-peak hours (CATS 2018).⁴³

Plans are also being discussed to expand the bus transportation network and/or commuter rail, streetcar, or LRT service by 2030, in conjunction with improved access to various land uses across the city (CATS 2019).⁴⁴ Further, various action plans are being proposed and implemented across the city of Charlotte for pedestrians and bicyclists. These plans encompass pedestrian facilities (CDoT 2017a),⁴⁵ bicyclist facilities (CDoT 2017b),⁴⁶ and shared mobility facilities (CDoT 2018).⁴⁷

A four-mile stretch of the recent extension that connects Old Concord Rd and UNC Charlotte's main campus, running through the N Tryon St median, was considered for travel time and TTR analysis. The commuters who use the N Tryon St (US 29) corridor may expect an extra delay due to the LRT operation. They may shift to alternative routes. Therefore, I-85 parallel route within the vicinity of the Blue Line LRT was also considered for analysis. The Blue Line LRT contains many at-grade crossings. To understand the influence of signal cycle adjustments on accommodating the LRT, locations near vicinity cross-streets within a mile of the N Tryon St, such as University City Blvd, E WT Harris Blvd, E Mallard Creek Church Rd, and I-485, were also selected for travel time-based analysis. Figure 2 shows the study (LRT) corridor, parallel routes, and cross-streets for travel time and TTR analysis.



Figure 1. Blue Line LRT, Charlotte, North Carolina



Figure 2. Study Area with Selected Links

A part of the four-mile stretch was used to model the influence of pedestrians, bicyclists, and LRT on road operational performance measures such as delay, queue length, and LOS at the intersection level. This section is 2.5 miles long, with nine intersections, and it extends from University City Blvd until UNC Charlotte on N Tryon St. The nine intersections (cross-streets) from north to south in geographical order are University City Blvd, University Pointe Blvd, McCullough Dr, Ken Hoffman Dr, E WT Harris Blvd, J M Keynes Dr, JW Clay Blvd, Institute Cir, and E Mallard

Creek Church Rd. Of these intersections, University City Blvd and E WT Harris Blvd are major cross-streets. They are grade-separated intersections, while the other seven are at-grade intersections. On-street bicycle lanes, pedestrian crosswalks and sidewalks, and park and ride facilities are also provided along the selected study corridor. The next section presents a brief description of the geometric conditions during the following situations: no build (2016: some construction activity ongoing), build but not in operation (2017: LRT constructed but not in service for the users), and build and in operation (2018 and 2019: LRT was constructed and serving the users) at selected intersections.

3.1 Geometric Conditions at Selected Intersections

For the simulation-based assessment, the geometric changes along the study corridor are used as inputs for modeling. Many geometric changes were made to the study corridor during and after LRT construction to accommodate traffic and to make sure that the traffic flow was disturbed as little as possible.

In Figures 3 through 11, the leftmost image represents geometric conditions during 2016. The center image represents geometric conditions during 2017 (when the LRT had been constructed but was not in operation for users), while the rightmost image represents geometric conditions during 2018 and 2019 (LRT was constructed and serving users). On-street bicycle lanes were added in some areas during 2017. They were then painted green in 2018, which can be noticed in some rightmost images. The addition of on-street bicycle lanes illustrates the emphasis on improving travel conditions for bicyclists at selected intersections of the study corridor.

N Tryon St & University City Blvd Intersection

University City Blvd is a major intersection along with E WT Harris Blvd and E Mallard Creek Church Rd. There is no direct interaction between the LRT and road traffic at University City Blvd intersection, as the LRT system is grade-separated at this intersection. Two through lanes can be observed in Figure 3 (2016) along with one left-turn lane and one right-turn lane in the southbound direction. Later in 2017, three through lanes, one left-turn lane, an on-street bicycle lane, and one right-turn lane can be observed. There were no changes in the northbound direction. Figure 3. N Tryon St & University City Blvd Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)



N Tryon St & University Pointe Blvd Intersection

There was only one left-turn lane, two through lanes, and one right-turn lane in the northbound direction on N Tryon St in 2016 during the construction phase. Later, two left-turn lanes, two through lanes, an on-street bicycle lane, and one right-turn lane can be observed in 2017 (Figure 4). Similarly, one left-turn lane, one through lane, and one shared through/right-turn lane can be seen in the southbound direction in 2016, later becoming one left-turn lane, two through lanes, one shared through/right-turn lane, and an on-street bicycle lane in 2018.

Figure 4. N Tryon St & University Pointe Blvd Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)



N Tryon St & McCullough Dr. Intersection

There were no lane additions at the McCullough Dr. intersection (Figure 5). However, there is one left-turn lane, two through lanes, and one right-turn lane in 2016 in the northbound direction, becoming two left-turn lanes, one through lane, and one right-turn lane. Additionally, on-street bicycle lanes were also added in the northbound and southbound directions on N Tryon St in 2017. No changes were made to the cross-streets.

Figure 5. N Tryon St & McCullough Dr. Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)



N Tryon St & Ken Hoffman Dr. Intersection

There are no significant changes in the lane configurations at the Ken Hoffman Dr. intersection. However, on-street bicycle lanes were added in the southbound and northbound directions (Figure 6) during 2018.

Figure 6. N Tryon St & Ken Hoffman Dr. Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)



N Tryon St & E WT Harris Blvd Intersection

There is no direct interaction between the LRT and road traffic at E WT Harris Blvd intersection, as the LRT system is grade-separated at this intersection. There are some lane changes between the before and after scenarios (Figure 7). An additional lane was added in both northbound and southbound directions. There were two left-turn lanes, one through lane, and one shared through/right-turn lane during the before period. After the lane addition, there were two left-turn lanes, two through lanes, and one right-turn lane, as well as on-street bicycle lanes in both directions.

Figure 7. N Tryon St & E WT Harris Blvd Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)



N Tryon St & J M Keynes Dr Intersection

There were no additional lanes added in the northbound direction on N Tryon St. However, onstreet bicycle lanes were added in the northbound and southbound directions. An additional lane was added in the southbound direction on N Tryon St to the existing left-turn lane, through lane, and shared through/right-turn lane, making it one left-turn lane, two through lanes, and one shared through/right-turn lane. It can also be observed in Figure 8 that the length of the left-turn lane increased from 2016 to 2017.

N Tryon St & JW Clay Blvd Intersection

The intersection at JW Clay Blvd had three lanes in the southbound direction in 2016 with one left-turn lane, one through lane, and one shared through/right-turn lane. An additional lane was added after the LRT construction in 2017 in the southbound direction, making it one left-turn lane, two through lanes, and one shared through/right-turn lane. There were no changes in the configuration of the cross-streets. However, an on-street bicycle lane was added in the northbound and southbound directions on N Tryon St in 2017 (Figure 9).

Figure 8. N Tryon St & J M Keynes Dr. Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)



Figure 9. N Tryon St & JW Clay Blvd Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)



N Tryon St & Institute Cir Intersection

Institute Cir is the last intersection in the northern direction after which the LRT turns into UNC Charlotte's main campus, deflecting away from N Tryon St. There were no lane changes on crossstreets (Figure 10). There were no lane changes in the northbound direction. However, there were three lanes in 2016 in the southbound direction comprising one left-turn lane, one through lane, and one through/right-turn lane; an additional lane was added in 2017, making it one left-turn lane, two through lanes, and one through/right-turn lane. It can be observed from the second and third pictures in Figure 10 that an on-street bicycle lane was added in the northbound direction from 2017 to 2018.

N Tryon St & E Mallard Creek Church Rd Intersection

Figure 11 shows the intersection at E Mallard Creek Church Rd. The LRT does not extend to this intersection. However, it was considered as a part of the study corridor due to its proximity to the area of interest. There are no changes at this intersection between the pre-construction, during-construction, or post-construction scenarios.

Figure 10. N Tryon St & Institute Cir Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)



Figure 11. N Tryon St & E Mallard Creek Church Rd Intersection: 2016, 2017, & 2018 (Left to Right)



IV. Assessments Based on Travel Time and Travel Time Reliability (TTR)

This chapter presents the travel time and TTR-based assessments from a multimodal perspective. It considers crosswalks, sidewalks, trails, greenways, on-street bicycle lanes, bus/LRT routes and stops/stations, street network characteristics, and traffic conditions to comprehensively evaluate and assess their influence on travel time and TTR at the link and corridor levels.

4.1 Methodology

Figure 12 presents the methodological framework adopted for the TTR-based assessment of the transportation network (including the LRT system).





An elaborate discussion on each part of the methodology is presented in the subsequent sections.

Data Collection

Four different scenarios—network without LRT, the sixth month of LRT operation, the twelfth month of LRT operation, and the eighteenth month of LRT operation—were considered in the TTR analysis. Travel time data for September 2017 are considered as representing the network without LRT in the operation. With the LRT infrastructure in place, several test runs were conducted in the fall of 2017. However, the LRT is not in operation for users.

The Blue Line LRT extension was open to the public as of March 16, 2018. Travel time data for September of 2018, March of 2019, and September of 2019 represent the sixth month of LRT operation, the twelfth month of LRT operation, and the eighteenth month of LRT operation, respectively.

The raw minute-wise travel time data were collected from the Regional Integrated Transportation Information System (RITIS) website, with support from the North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT). The data corresponding to each link is coded with a single identification code: namely, a Traffic Message Channel (TMC) ID. The data contain nine-digit TMC IDs, unique segment identification numbers (for example, 125+08373). The data processing is carried out at two levels: GIS-based link (TMC) identification and the computation of TTR indices.

Data Processing

Geo-referencing of the links was done using four well-defined points (start latitude, start longitude, end latitude, and end longitude). The exact coordinates of these points were obtained from the RITIS database. These points were transferred to the street map of North Carolina. A buffer of one mile was created along N Tryon St, and all the links within the one-mile buffer were identified.

The commuters who use the N Tryon St (US-29) corridor may expect an extra delay during peak hours due to the LRT operation. They may shift to alternative routes. Therefore, the I-85 parallel route within the vicinity of the LRT system was also considered. The LRT system contains many at-grade crossings. The traffic signal cycles and green times need to be adjusted to give priority to the LRT. Due to this, the N Tryon St traffic may get more green time compared to the crossstreets. To understand the influence of signal cycle adjustments to accommodate the LRT, the near vicinity cross-streets within a mile of the N Tryon St, such as University City Blvd, E WT Harris Blvd, Mallard Creek Church Rd, and I-485, were also selected for travel time analysis. The study links considered are shown in Figure 2.

The travel time reliability for different hours of the day and days of the week was first examined. These patterns help in determining the peak and off-peak hours of the day and the peak day of the week. In this research, for weekdays, morning peak (7:00 AM - 8:00 AM), afternoon (12:00 PM - 1:00 PM), evening peak (5:00 PM - 6:00 PM), and the nighttime (8:00 PM - 9:00 PM) were considered.

Various percentile-based TTR measures were considered to assess the influence of the LRT system on transportation system performance. All these measures were derived from the travel time distributions (for example, as shown in Figure 13).





The ATT, the free-flow travel time, and the 95th percentile travel time (PT) were computed for each link by aggregating data by day of the week and time of the day using Microsoft SQL. The 95th percentile travel time indicates that 95% of the time, the performance of the study link will not be worse than the values associated with the 95th percentile travel time. It is directly computed from the travel time data and also referred to as PT. BT is the difference between the 95th percentile travel time and the ATT, as shown in Equation 1. It indicates the extra travel that users add to their ATT to ensure on-time arrival at their destination.

PTI and BTI are widely used for the performance evaluation of transportation systems. PTI is the ratio of the 95th percentile travel time to the free-flow travel time. PTI is computed using Equation 2. It compares the near-worst travel time with the ideal travel time.

(1)

$$PTI = \frac{95th \ percentile \ travel \ time}{Free-flow \ travel \ time} \tag{2}$$

The BT divided by the ATT gives the BTI. It indicates the size of BT as a percentage of the ATT (Equation 3).

$$BTI = \frac{BT}{ATT}$$
(3)

Data Analysis

An LRT system with dedicated right-of-way and signal priority influence the arterial street traffic. Figure 14 shows the interaction of the LRT system with moving traffic, pedestrian activity, and bicyclist activity. In this research, the initial assessment of TTR was carried out at the link level, as it can capture the influence of the LRT system on the specific link of the road. Moreover, route-level aggregation may only provide the overall influence of TTR along the selected study corridor. As this research proposes a methodological framework for the assessment of the influence from a multimodal perspective on the road traffic within its vicinity, the initial assessment was performed at the disaggregated level. The link-level analysis was followed by corridor-level travel time distribution analysis. As the lengths of the link are not the same, data normalization was carried out by dividing the travel time of a link by the length of the corresponding link. The measures of TTR (i.e., ATT, PT, BT, BTI, and PTI) are derived from these distributions.

Figure 14. Interaction of the LRT System with the Moving Traffic, On-street Bicycle Lane, and Pedestrian Crosswalks



The statistical significance of the change in TTR measures (ATT, PT, BT, BTI, and PTI) over different phases of LRT operation was evaluated using one-tail paired t-tests. A one-tailed t-test helps assess if the mean TTR measure of a phase of LRT operation is significantly greater than or less than the mean TTR measure for the network without an LRT operation. This analysis was performed at a 95% confidence level. The null hypothesis assumes that the TTR measure for the network without an LRT operation is equal to the TTR measure for the selected phase of LRT operation. The alternate hypothesis assumes that the TTR measure for the network without LRT operation is greater than the TTR measure for the selected phase of a selected phase of a phase of a selected phase of a selected phase of a phase of LRT operation.

4.2 Analysis of Travel Time Data

The analysis of travel time data at the link level and corridor level is discussed in this section.

Travel Time Reliability (TTR) at the Link Level

Initially, the ATT and the PT were estimated for the study corridor (N Tryon St), I-85 (parallel route), and other cross-streets in the near vicinity. The BT, BTI, and PTI were computed for the selected peak and off-peak hours of the day. This section demonstrates the link-level TTR assessment of selected corridors during different phases of LRT operation.

Influence on the Study Corridor (N Tryon St)

The TTR assessment was carried out on twelve different links on N Tryon St for four different phases of LRT operation. The selected links are shown in Figure 2. The TTR assessment of 125+08371 (a sample link) for a typical weekday evening peak hour is illustrated in Figure 15. From Figure 15, there is a trend of worsening TTR over different phases of LRT operation. The influence is at a maximum during the eighteenth month of LRT operation.

Further, for each selected link, the ratio between the travel time performance measure for (a) the analysis phase and (b) the network without the LRT phase was computed. A ratio value greater than one indicates a decrease in the TTR measures, while a ratio value less than one indicates an improvement. The analysis performed for N Tryon St on a typical weekday morning peak hour is summarized in Table 1. The column corresponding to the network without LRT shows the TTR measures, and the change in TTR during different phases is shown with ratios.

The green shaded cells indicate a ratio of less than one, which indicates an improvement in the performance measure after the operation of the Blue Line LRT began. The red color cells indicate a decrease in the TTR measure compared to the system without LRT. For example, the ratio of ATT during the sixth month of LRT operation divided by the ATT for the network without the LRT, in Table 1, is reported as 0.94 for link ID -125+08371. This implies a 6% decrease in the ATT during the sixth month of LRT operation when compared to the network without the LRT condition.


Figure 15. TTR of 125+08371 over Different Phases of LRT Operation

In Table 1, there exists a trend of improvement in TTR for many links during the sixth month of LRT operation. However, a few links showed a decrease in performance. While looking into the

MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE

twelfth month of LRT operation, many links showed an improvement in reliability compared to the sixth month of an LRT operation. During the eighteenth month of an LRT operation, the majority of the links showed a decrease in TTR. A consistent improvement in TTR was observed on 125+08373 and 125+08374 during different phases of LRT operation.

A significant improvement in travel time performance measures is observed on some of the links during the evening peak hour, as illustrated in Table 2. However, a trend of deterioration in performance is observed on some of the links during different phases of LRT operation. The vehicle delay associated with the at-grade LRT system crossings can be considered one primary reason behind the increase in travel time on those links. Moreover, one can also see a very consistent deterioration in travel time performance measures on link ID 125+08372 during different phases of LRT operation. The vehicle delay associated with the left-turn movements to parking decks and significant trip attractions, or the university area and other public offices in the vicinity, may have influenced the travel time performance on 125+08372.

Overall, the maximum variability is observed in the case of buffer measures (BT and BTI) during different phases of LRT operation compared to the network without LRT.

Influence on the Parallel Route (I-85)

The TTR assessment was carried out on sixteen different links on the parallel route for four different phases of LRT operation. The results for the I-85 parallel route for a typical morning peak hour are shown in Table 3. From the link-level TTR assessment of the parallel route, a substantial adverse influence on TTR was observed during the morning peak during all the selected analysis periods compared to the network without LRT. When looking into the twelfth and eighteenth month of LRT operation, the buffer measure notably worsened in all the selected links.

Similar to the morning peak hour, TTR measures showed a consistent trend of worsening in the evening peak for all the phases of LRT operation (Table 4). Also, the degree of change is higher in the evening peak hour compared to the morning peak hour.

Influence on the Near Vicinity Cross-streets

A similar analysis was performed on 42 links on the selected near vicinity cross-streets, and the results are shown in Table 5 and Table 6. There is a trend of decreases in travel time performance measures on some of the cross-street links during the sixth month of LRT operation. However, the majority of the links showed an improvement in TTR during the twelfth month of LRT operation compared to the network without LRT. Finally, the analysis for the eighteenth month of LRT operation showed a trend of worsening reliability for most of the links during both the morning and evening peak hours.

Overall, the link-level analysis indicates that many links in the study area clearly showed an improvement, while the TTR worsened in some of them during many operating scenarios, compared to the network without the LRT system in operation. To avoid delays at signalized intersections due to LRT system operation, the results exhibit a trend of parallel route choice during the morning and evening hours. The worsening in TTR on the parallel route links indicates the same. Overall, link-level TTR analysis is useful in identifying locations or links where system control, regulation, advisory input, and other strategies are needed to enhance route reliability.

	Length	TTI	R for th	ie netw	ork with	out				Rat	tio of T	TR valu	ues for 1	networ	k with :	and wit	hout Ll	RT			
Link	(miles)			LRT				Six	th mor	nth			Twe	lfth mo	onth			Eighte	eenth n	nonth	
	(IIIICS)	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI
125+08371	1.77	4.22	5.36	1.14	27.04	1.27	0.94	0.90	0.76	0.79	0.96	0.95	0.90	0.72	0.75	0.95	0.98	1.04	1.26	1.22	1.05
125+08372	0.35	0.83	1.11	0.27	32.63	1.33	1.14	1.34	1.95	1.63	1.15	1.17	1.28	1.62	1.39	1.10	1.10	1.33	2.01	1.74	1.18
125+08373	1.08	3.49	4.52	1.03	29.31	1.29	0.83	0.81	0.77	0.93	0.98	0.84	0.84	0.81	0.95	0.99	0.76	0.75	0.73	0.96	0.99
125+08374	1.39	3.42	4.38	0.96	28.29	1.28	0.89	0.89	0.90	1.00	1.00	0.88	0.87	0.87	0.96	0.99	0.93	0.91	0.82	0.88	0.97
125+08375	0.93	1.48	1.84	0.36	24.26	1.24	1.01	1.04	1.19	1.20	1.04	0.97	0.96	0.92	0.95	0.99	1.01	1.06	1.28	1.26	1.05
125-08370	1.7	3.51	4.25	0.74	20.60	1.21	1.03	1.02	0.95	0.93	0.99	1.08	1.16	1.51	1.42	1.07	1.16	1.19	1.34	1.12	1.02
125-08371	0.43	0.94	1.27	0.33	33.26	1.33	0.96	0.97	0.98	1.03	1.01	1.05	1.06	1.09	1.02	1.01	1.04	1.20	1.64	1.60	1.15
125-08372	1.1	2.75	3.82	1.07	38.26	1.38	1.14	1.27	1.61	1.44	1.12	1.08	1.10	1.15	1.07	1.02	0.99	0.96	0.87	0.88	0.97
125-08373	1.38	3.06	3.97	0.92	29.87	1.30	1.01	0.96	0.79	0.79	0.95	0.97	0.93	0.82	0.85	0.97	0.98	1.00	1.08	1.10	1.02
125-08374	0.8	1.27	1.64	0.37	28.95	1.29	1.00	1.05	1.22	1.20	1.05	0.97	0.92	0.79	0.82	0.96	1.01	1.09	1.37	1.33	1.07
125N08375	0.27	0.37	0.43	0.06	16.40	1.16	1.09	1.19	1.76	1.60	1.08	1.04	1.05	1.11	1.07	1.01	1.12	1.19	1.57	1.38	1.05
125P08375	0.26	0.42	0.52	0.10	24.44	1.24	1.00	1.04	1.17	1.18	1.04	0.97	0.95	0.89	0.92	0.98	1.01	1.06	1.27	1.25	1.05

Table 1. TTR Measures: N Tryon St (Morning Peak)

Improvement

	Lanath	TT	R for th	ne netw	ork with	nout				Rat	tio of T	TR valu	ues for :	networ	k with :	and wit	hout Ll	RТ			
Link	(miles)			LRT				Six	th mor	nth			Twe	lfth mo	onth			Eight	eenth n	nonth	
	(IIIIes)	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI
125+08371	1.77	3.95	4.98	1.03	25.76	1.26	1.15	1.17	1.27	1.11	1.02	1.21	1.18	1.07	0.89	0.98	1.30	1.45	2.06	1.51	1.10
125+08372	0.35	0.76	1.01	0.25	32.48	1.32	1.27	1.25	1.19	0.94	0.98	1.27	1.36	1.62	1.27	1.07	1.50	1.87	3.01	1.98	1.24
125+08373	1.08	3.09	4.50	1.40	44.85	1.45	1.15	1.12	1.05	0.90	0.97	1.08	1.05	0.99	0.91	0.97	1.17	1.13	1.05	0.89	0.97
125+08374	1.39	4.83	7.44	2.60	50.91	1.51	1.04	1.19	1.47	1.41	1.14	0.90	0.97	1.10	1.11	1.04	1.10	1.27	1.58	1.35	1.12
125+08375	0.93	1.73	2.24	0.51	29.66	1.30	0.95	0.93	0.89	0.92	0.98	0.96	0.95	0.93	0.97	0.99	1.02	1.16	1.64	1.52	1.12
125-08370	1.7	5.14	7.08	1.94	36.65	1.37	0.91	0.82	0.56	0.63	0.90	0.92	0.84	0.63	0.70	0.92	0.94	0.92	0.85	0.91	0.98
125-08371	0.43	0.98	1.35	0.37	37.43	1.37	1.02	1.01	0.97	0.97	0.99	0.97	1.04	1.22	1.28	1.08	0.98	1.02	1.13	1.15	1.04
125-08372	1.1	4.17	5.23	1.07	25.42	1.25	0.93	1.02	1.39	1.52	1.10	0.84	0.90	1.14	1.38	1.08	0.79	0.82	0.95	1.19	1.04
125-08373	1.38	4.20	5.47	1.27	30.24	1.30	0.94	0.93	0.88	0.92	0.98	0.91	0.89	0.81	0.89	0.97	0.91	0.96	1.12	1.20	1.05
125-08374	0.8	1.39	1.91	0.52	37.69	1.38	0.96	0.92	0.81	0.84	0.96	0.93	0.86	0.66	0.71	0.92	0.98	1.03	1.18	1.20	1.06
125N08375	0.27	0.42	0.51	0.09	20.64	1.21	0.96	0.95	0.90	0.95	0.99	0.91	0.90	0.85	0.93	0.99	0.95	0.97	1.06	1.12	1.02
125P08375	0.26	0.49	0.63	0.14	29.21	1.29	0.95	0.93	0.89	0.92	0.98	0.96	0.95	0.95	0.98	1.00	1.02	1.16	1.65	1.53	1.12

Table 2. TTR Measures: N Tryon St (Evening Peak)

Improvement

	Longth	TT	R for th	ne netw	ork with	lout				Rat	io of T	TR valu	es for n	network	with a	nd with	nout LR	Т			
Link	(miles)			LRT				Siz	th mon	th			Twe	lfth mo	nth			Eight	eenth n	nonth	
	(IIIICS)	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI
125+04644	1.00	0.87	0.91	0.04	5.15	1.05	1.02	1.06	1.80	1.75	1.04	1.00	1.02	1.26	1.27	1.01	0.99	1.01	1.36	1.38	1.02
125+04645	1.04	0.93	0.98	0.05	5.75	1.06	1.00	1.02	1.41	1.42	1.02	1.00	1.01	1.20	1.20	1.01	0.99	1.01	1.35	1.37	1.02
125+04646	0.39	0.35	0.37	0.02	5.66	1.06	1.00	1.02	1.39	1.39	1.02	1.00	1.01	1.14	1.14	1.01	0.99	1.01	1.33	1.34	1.02
125+09616	0.29	0.25	0.26	0.01	5.30	1.05	1.01	1.04	1.58	1.57	1.03	1.01	1.03	1.43	1.42	1.02	1.00	1.01	1.20	1.21	1.01
125-04643	0.36	0.44	0.86	0.43	78.62	1.79	0.95	0.74	0.52	0.64	0.84	1.22	1.20	1.19	0.98	0.99	1.26	1.49	1.73	1.25	1.11
125-04644	1.16	1.08	1.39	0.32	26.35	1.26	1.04	1.09	1.28	1.28	1.06	1.07	1.20	1.65	1.48	1.10	1.16	1.60	3.12	2.65	1.34
125-04645	0.60	0.53	0.64	0.10	18.18	1.18	1.17	1.67	4.28	2.61	1.25	1.01	1.04	1.23	1.22	1.03	1.09	1.29	2.35	2.09	1.17
125-09616	1.04	1.11	1.98	0.87	63.66	1.64	0.98	0.81	0.60	0.69	0.88	1.22	1.32	1.45	1.20	1.08	1.32	1.88	2.60	1.86	1.34
125N04644	0.47	0.43	0.56	0.13	26.70	1.27	1.04	1.09	1.27	1.27	1.06	1.07	1.20	1.64	1.47	1.10	1.16	1.60	3.07	2.60	1.34
125N04645	0.53	0.48	0.57	0.09	18.07	1.18	1.17	1.67	4.32	2.63	1.25	1.01	1.04	1.21	1.21	1.03	1.09	1.30	2.37	2.11	1.17
125N04646	1.07	0.95	1.01	0.07	6.89	1.07	1.12	1.73	10.54	7.22	1.40	1.01	1.08	2.23	2.16	1.07	1.06	1.32	5.09	4.63	1.23
125N09616	0.53	0.57	1.01	0.44	63.31	1.63	0.98	0.81	0.61	0.70	0.88	1.22	1.32	1.46	1.21	1.08	1.32	1.89	2.61	1.87	1.34
125P04644	0.59	0.51	0.54	0.03	4.91	1.05	1.02	1.06	1.89	1.84	1.04	1.00	1.02	1.35	1.35	1.02	0.99	1.01	1.30	1.32	1.01
125P04645	0.53	0.47	0.49	0.03	5.47	1.05	1.00	1.03	1.54	1.55	1.03	1.00	1.01	1.27	1.28	1.01	0.99	1.01	1.45	1.47	1.02
125P04646	1.09	0.96	1.02	0.06	5.85	1.06	1.00	1.02	1.43	1.44	1.02	1.00	1.01	1.17	1.17	1.01	0.99	1.01	1.27	1.28	1.02
125P09616	0.59	0.50	0.53	0.03	5.97	1.06	1.01	1.03	1.42	1.40	1.02	1.01	1.02	1.21	1.20	1.01	1.00	1.01	1.17	1.17	1.01

Table 3. TTR Measures: I-85 Parallel Route (Morning Peak)

Improvement

	Length	TTI	R for th	ie netw	ork with	out				Ra	tio of 🛛	l'TR val	ues for	network	with a	und wit	hout LF	RΤ			
Link	(miles)			LRT				:	Sixth mo	onth				Twelfth	month	1		Eig	hteenth	month	
	(IIIIes)	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI
125+04644	1.00	1.16	1.98	0.82	64.38	1.64	0.99	0.88	0.73	0.74	0.90	1.17	1.69	2.42	1.75	1.29	1.14	1.25	1.40	1.11	1.04
125+04645	1.04	1.39	2.04	0.65	44.56	1.45	0.93	0.90	0.84	0.90	0.97	1.00	1.11	1.34	1.23	1.07	1.02	1.16	1.47	1.20	1.06
125+04646	0.39	0.39	0.45	0.06	14.59	1.15	0.99	1.02	1.21	1.23	1.03	0.99	1.07	1.59	1.60	1.08	1.30	3.32	16.77	5.88	1.62
125+09616	0.29	0.26	0.33	0.07	25.07	1.25	1.12	1.30	1.95	1.32	1.06	1.26	2.16	5.49	3.69	1.54	1.29	2.50	6.98	3.94	1.59
125-04643	0.36	0.34	0.36	0.03	7.88	1.08	1.19	1.83	9.95	4.88	1.28	1.12	2.01	13.34	9.72	1.64	1.09	1.69	9.22	6.94	1.43
125-04644	1.16	1.00	1.06	0.06	5.76	1.06	1.03	1.17	3.61	3.20	1.12	1.00	1.03	1.54	1.54	1.03	0.99	1.01	1.32	1.33	1.02
125-04645	0.60	0.52	0.55	0.03	6.03	1.06	1.00	1.04	1.58	1.57	1.03	1.00	1.06	1.99	1.98	1.06	0.99	1.00	1.22	1.24	1.01
125-09616	1.04	0.90	0.97	0.06	7.17	1.07	1.26	2.19	15.21	6.21	1.35	1.04	1.36	5.85	5.19	1.28	1.02	1.24	4.24	3.83	1.19
125N04644	0.47	0.40	0.42	0.02	5.95	1.06	1.03	1.18	3.57	3.18	1.12	1.00	1.03	1.49	1.49	1.03	0.99	1.01	1.28	1.29	1.02
125N04645	0.53	0.46	0.49	0.03	5.69	1.06	1.00	1.04	1.65	1.65	1.03	1.00	1.06	2.08	2.07	1.06	0.99	1.00	1.24	1.25	1.01
125N04646	1.07	0.94	0.99	0.06	5.95	1.06	1.01	1.04	1.59	1.58	1.03	1.00	1.04	1.75	1.74	1.04	0.99	1.02	1.50	1.50	1.03
125N09616	0.53	0.46	0.49	0.03	6.93	1.07	1.26	2.20	15.77	6.44	1.35	1.04	1.37	6.10	5.42	1.29	1.02	1.24	4.37	3.93	1.19
125P04644	0.59	0.68	1.17	0.49	64.27	1.64	0.99	0.88	0.73	0.74	0.90	1.17	1.69	2.42	1.75	1.29	1.14	1.25	1.40	1.11	1.04
125P04645	0.53	0.70	1.03	0.33	44.57	1.45	0.93	0.90	0.84	0.90	0.97	1.00	1.10	1.33	1.23	1.07	1.01	1.16	1.47	1.20	1.06
125P04646	1.09	1.09	1.26	0.17	14.80	1.15	0.99	1.02	1.22	1.25	1.03	1.00	1.07	1.60	1.61	1.08	1.30	3.32	16.57	5.82	1.62
125P09616	0.59	0.52	0.66	0.14	25.32	1.25	1.12	1.30	1.95	1.32	1.07	1.26	2.17	5.48	3.68	1.54	1.29	2.50	6.94	3.91	1.59

Table 4. TTR Measures: I-85 Parallel Route (Evening Peak)

Improvement

	Lapath									R	atio of [l [°] TR valı	ues for 1	networl	c with a	nd with	out LR	Г			
Link	(miles)	TTR f	or the r	network	without	LRT		Six	th mon	th			Twe	elfth mo	onth			Eight	eenth m	nonth	
	(IIIICS)	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI
125+05832	0.44	0.53	0.60	0.08	15.01	1.15	1.01	1.01	1.04	1.02	1.00	0.99	0.95	0.70	0.71	0.96	1.04	1.07	1.29	1.22	1.03
125+05833	0.51	0.92	1.20	0.29	31.87	1.32	1.12	1.27	1.75	1.49	1.12	0.93	0.91	0.84	0.89	0.97	1.08	1.25	1.80	1.58	1.14
125+05834	0.52	1.05	1.43	0.39	37.08	1.37	1.05	1.03	0.97	0.92	0.98	0.93	0.88	0.74	0.79	0.94	1.05	1.07	1.10	1.04	1.01
125+08947	2.04	4.09	4.73	0.64	15.06	1.15	1.02	1.06	1.34	1.35	1.05	0.96	0.97	1.02	1.08	1.01	0.99	1.11	1.87	1.92	1.12
125+12200	1.24	2.14	2.59	0.45	20.58	1.21	1.04	1.06	1.13	1.09	1.01	1.00	0.97	0.82	0.82	0.97	1.08	1.09	1.15	1.06	1.01
125+12201	0.87	1.68	2.38	0.70	39.29	1.39	0.91	0.81	0.55	0.62	0.89	0.87	0.73	0.41	0.49	0.86	0.91	0.82	0.62	0.71	0.92
125+12232	0.57	1.07	1.44	0.38	35.05	1.35	0.92	0.87	0.73	0.80	0.95	0.95	0.88	0.69	0.73	0.93	0.98	1.00	1.06	1.06	1.01
125+12233	0.59	0.98	1.21	0.23	22.96	1.23	0.92	0.96	1.15	1.21	1.04	0.96	0.97	1.01	1.07	1.01	0.95	1.00	1.24	1.33	1.06
125-04957	0.96	0.82	0.87	0.05	6.50	1.07	1.01	1.06	1.72	1.69	1.04	1.00	1.01	1.20	1.20	1.01	1.01	1.03	1.42	1.41	1.02
125-04958	0.28	0.23	0.24	0.01	5.80	1.06	1.01	1.05	1.78	1.76	1.04	1.01	1.04	1.52	1.51	1.03	1.01	1.05	1.61	1.59	1.03
125-05831	0.49	0.59	0.69	0.09	15.60	1.16	0.97	0.96	0.85	0.89	0.99	1.03	1.24	2.51	1.99	1.13	1.00	1.04	1.30	1.32	1.04
125-05832	0.5	0.64	0.75	0.10	15.85	1.16	0.99	1.03	1.29	1.31	1.04	0.95	0.93	0.77	0.80	0.97	0.98	0.99	1.08	1.11	1.01
125-05833	0.53	1.17	1.55	0.38	32.24	1.32	0.96	1.01	1.18	1.24	1.06	0.88	0.86	0.81	0.91	0.98	1.02	1.10	1.32	1.30	1.07
125-08945	0.67	1.44	1.76	0.32	22.31	1.22	0.87	0.88	0.90	1.01	1.00	0.91	0.92	0.96	1.04	1.01	1.01	1.12	1.63	1.56	1.10
125-08946	2.03	3.58	4.68	1.09	29.57	1.30	0.97	0.92	0.75	0.80	0.95	1.01	0.93	0.67	0.66	0.92	1.08	1.03	0.89	0.84	0.96
125-12199	1.24	2.48	2.96	0.48	18.86	1.19	0.90	0.90	0.91	1.03	1.00	0.86	0.83	0.70	0.83	0.97	0.92	0.93	0.99	1.07	1.01
125-12200	0.84	1.62	2.07	0.45	27.31	1.27	0.96	1.00	1.16	1.21	1.04	0.87	0.86	0.84	0.97	0.99	0.89	0.92	1.05	1.17	1.04
125-12232	0.6	0.96	1.23	0.27	26.65	1.27	0.97	0.92	0.70	0.74	0.94	1.03	0.99	0.86	0.86	0.97	1.00	0.94	0.74	0.74	0.94
125-18607	0.56	1.27	1.71	0.44	33.78	1.34	1.05	1.06	1.09	1.03	1.01	1.06	1.03	0.97	0.93	0.98	1.07	1.17	1.45	1.32	1.08
125N04957	0.78	0.67	0.71	0.04	6.34	1.06	1.01	1.06	1.81	1.78	1.05	1.00	1.02	1.26	1.26	1.02	1.01	1.03	1.42	1.41	1.02
125N04958	0.62	0.52	0.54	0.03	5.36	1.05	1.01	1.05	1.82	1.79	1.04	1.01	1.04	1.64	1.63	1.03	1.01	1.06	1.87	1.85	1.04
125N05832	0.46	0.59	0.69	0.09	15.61	1.16	0.99	1.03	1.30	1.31	1.04	0.95	0.93	0.76	0.79	0.97	0.98	0.99	1.08	1.10	1.01
125N05834	0.21	0.43	0.56	0.13	29.06	1.29	0.92	0.93	0.96	1.05	1.01	0.87	0.89	0.95	1.10	1.02	0.95	0.95	0.93	0.96	0.99
125N08947	0.31	0.52	0.72	0.20	35.23	1.35	0.95	0.99	1.08	1.08	1.02	0.91	0.80	0.49	0.53	0.88	1.04	1.11	1.30	1.15	1.04
125N12201	0.24	0.45	0.54	0.09	20.35	1.20	0.95	1.00	1.25	1.32	1.05	0.92	0.92	0.92	1.00	1.00	0.97	1.07	1.55	1.57	1.10

Table 5. TTR Measures: Near Vicinity Cross-streets (Morning Pea	nity Cross-streets (Morning Peak	icinity Ci	Near	Measures:	. TTR	able 5.
---	----------------------------------	------------	------	-----------	-------	---------

MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE

	Length									R	atio of 7	l'TR val	ues for 1	networl	c with a	nd with	out LR	ſ			
Link	(miles)	TTR f	or the r	network	without	LRT		Six	th mon	th			Twe	lfth mo	onth			Eight	eenth m	nonth	
	(IIIIC3)	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI
125N12232	0.19	0.31	0.41	0.10	30.84	1.31	0.98	0.91	0.70	0.74	0.94	1.01	0.95	0.76	0.76	0.94	0.99	0.90	0.64	0.64	0.91
125P04957	0.38	0.33	0.39	0.06	17.18	1.17	1.07	1.52	4.10	3.18	1.32	0.99	0.94	0.65	0.67	0.95	1.05	1.30	2.77	2.44	1.21
125P05832	0.5	0.61	0.70	0.09	14.69	1.15	1.00	1.01	1.04	1.02	1.00	0.99	0.95	0.70	0.71	0.96	1.04	1.07	1.30	1.23	1.03
125P05834	0.2	0.40	0.55	0.15	36.83	1.37	1.05	1.02	0.95	0.90	0.97	0.94	0.88	0.73	0.78	0.94	1.05	1.06	1.09	1.03	1.01

Improvement

	T an arth									R	atio of '	ΓTR val	ues for	networl	k with a	nd with	nout LR'	Т			
Link	(miles)	TTR	for the n	etwork	without	LRT		Six	xth mon	th			Twe	elfth mo	onth			Eight	eenth n	nonth	
	(IIIIes)	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI
125+05832	0.44	0.55	0.65	0.09	16.61	1.17	0.96	0.94	0.85	0.91	0.99	0.94	0.96	1.04	1.11	1.02	1.03	1.38	3.43	3.09	1.30
125+05833	0.51	1.52	3.26	1.74	88.64	1.89	0.84	0.72	0.62	0.85	0.93	0.87	0.83	0.80	1.11	1.05	1.17	1.24	1.30	1.20	1.09
125+05834	0.52	1.68	2.48	0.80	45.92	1.46	0.91	0.91	0.90	1.01	1.00	0.97	0.98	0.99	1.03	1.01	1.13	1.21	1.38	1.21	1.06
125+08947	2.04	7.42	10.47	3.05	37.32	1.37	0.96	1.10	1.43	1.49	1.13	0.83	0.91	1.11	1.31	1.08	0.96	1.01	1.12	1.17	1.05
125+12200	1.24	2.82	3.40	0.58	20.18	1.20	0.93	0.95	1.08	1.15	1.03	0.88	0.89	0.90	1.05	1.01	0.90	0.93	1.07	1.19	1.03
125+12201	0.87	2.09	2.85	0.76	35.36	1.35	0.90	0.94	1.05	1.15	1.04	0.94	1.14	1.70	1.64	1.17	0.84	0.80	0.69	0.82	0.95
125+12232	0.57	1.30	1.81	0.51	39.43	1.39	0.97	0.94	0.86	0.89	0.97	1.07	1.13	1.28	1.21	1.06	1.10	1.16	1.33	1.19	1.05
125+12233	0.59	0.98	1.36	0.39	38.52	1.39	0.99	1.02	1.10	1.02	1.01	1.02	0.97	0.84	0.83	0.95	1.05	1.09	1.18	1.09	1.02
125-04957	0.96	0.99	1.47	0.47	46.55	1.47	0.94	0.90	0.83	0.84	0.95	1.09	1.21	1.47	1.19	1.06	1.13	1.02	0.79	0.65	0.89
125-04958	0.28	0.27	0.40	0.13	46.10	1.46	0.98	0.92	0.79	0.74	0.92	1.11	1.39	1.97	1.54	1.17	1.24	1.29	1.39	1.07	1.02
125-05831	0.49	0.62	0.73	0.11	18.09	1.18	1.00	1.00	1.04	1.01	1.00	1.02	1.01	0.92	0.89	0.98	1.03	1.13	1.67	1.58	1.09
125-05832	0.5	0.70	0.85	0.16	22.60	1.23	0.98	0.95	0.81	0.82	0.97	0.99	0.97	0.89	0.90	0.98	1.03	1.11	1.46	1.42	1.08
125-05833	0.53	2.01	2.98	0.97	47.97	1.48	1.05	1.13	1.30	1.21	1.07	1.04	1.14	1.35	1.28	1.09	1.43	1.58	1.90	1.31	1.10
125-08945	0.67	1.74	2.24	0.50	28.69	1.29	0.95	0.95	0.95	1.00	1.00	0.96	0.94	0.89	0.92	0.98	1.02	1.14	1.56	1.52	1.11
125-08946	2.03	5.36	6.32	0.96	17.89	1.18	1.03	1.21	2.22	2.10	1.17	0.94	0.94	0.96	1.02	1.00	1.04	1.14	1.71	1.62	1.09
125-12199	1.24	2.93	3.87	0.93	30.80	1.31	0.90	0.83	0.62	0.71	0.93	0.88	0.82	0.61	0.72	0.93	0.92	0.98	1.16	1.26	1.06
125-12200	0.84	1.83	2.60	0.77	41.31	1.41	0.89	0.85	0.75	0.84	0.95	0.88	0.87	0.83	0.95	0.99	0.91	0.91	0.93	1.00	1.00
125-12232	0.6	1.00	1.31	0.32	31.17	1.31	1.00	0.97	0.84	0.82	0.96	1.08	1.11	1.18	1.11	1.03	1.14	1.19	1.36	1.19	1.05
125-18607	0.56	1.61	2.16	0.55	33.92	1.34	1.08	1.16	1.41	1.29	1.07	1.06	1.11	1.27	1.18	1.05	1.15	1.32	1.83	1.61	1.15
125N04957	0.78	0.81	1.20	0.39	46.91	1.47	0.94	0.91	0.83	0.85	0.95	1.09	1.21	1.47	1.19	1.06	1.13	1.02	0.78	0.65	0.89
125N04958	0.62	0.60	0.89	0.29	45.75	1.46	0.98	0.92	0.79	0.74	0.92	1.11	1.40	1.99	1.56	1.17	1.24	1.29	1.40	1.08	1.03
125N05832	0.46	0.64	0.79	0.15	22.94	1.23	0.98	0.95	0.81	0.82	0.97	0.99	0.97	0.87	0.89	0.98	1.03	1.11	1.43	1.39	1.07
125N05834	0.21	0.62	0.85	0.23	37.56	1.38	0.97	1.06	1.30	1.26	1.07	0.81	0.82	0.84	1.01	1.00	1.17	1.52	2.45	1.94	1.26
125N08947	0.31	0.48	0.55	0.07	14.34	1.14	1.03	0.99	0.74	0.71	0.96	1.02	0.99	0.79	0.77	0.97	1.02	1.05	1.24	1.20	1.02
125N12201	0.24	0.60	0.79	0.19	27.29	1.27	0.83	0.81	0.73	0.98	1.00	0.79	0.79	0.80	1.10	1.02	0.99	1.07	1.32	1.46	1.10

Table 0. 1 1 R Measures. Real Vicinity C1055 Streets (Evening 1 cak)	Table 6.	TTR Mea	sures: Near	Vicinity	Cross-streets	(Evening Pea	ık)
--	----------	---------	-------------	----------	---------------	--------------	-----

MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE

	Length									R	atio of [ΓTR val	ues for	networl	k with a	und with	nout LR	Г			
Link	(miles)	TTR	for the n	etwork	without	LRT		Six	xth mon	th			Twe	elfth mo	onth			Eight	eenth n	nonth	
	(IIIIC3)	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI	ATT	PT	BT	BTI	PTI
125N12232	0.19	0.32	0.42	0.10	31.61	1.32	1.00	0.96	0.84	0.82	0.96	1.08	1.10	1.17	1.10	1.02	1.14	1.19	1.33	1.16	1.04
125P04957	0.38	0.32	0.34	0.02	7.57	1.08	1.01	1.01	1.11	1.10	1.01	1.00	1.01	1.08	1.08	1.01	0.99	1.00	1.14	1.15	1.01
125P05832	0.5	0.64	0.75	0.11	16.59	1.17	0.96	0.93	0.81	0.86	0.98	0.94	0.95	1.01	1.08	1.01	1.03	1.38	3.41	3.08	1.30
125P05834	0.2	0.64	0.95	0.31	45.74	1.46	0.91	0.91	0.91	1.02	1.01	0.97	0.98	0.99	1.04	1.01	1.13	1.21	1.38	1.22	1.07

Improvement

4.3 Corridor-Level Analysis

To compare the overall influence of LRT on TTR measures from a multimodal perspective, cumulative frequency diagrams were plotted at an aggregate level. Considering the cumulative distribution of travel times in a corridor is useful for analyzing the variations in travel times. It helps visualize the travel time trends for multiple time periods in a single graph. Most importantly, it provides the magnitude of travel times along with the distribution of travel times in a specific time- period. The variability in travel times can be visualized and interpreted from the cumulative distribution function for travel time. Data normalization was carried out by dividing the travel time of a link by the length of the corresponding link.

Influence on the Study Corridor (N Tryon St)

The cumulative distribution of travel times per mile for N Tryon St during the analysis period is shown in Figure 16. The cumulative distribution of travel times along N Tryon St demonstrated a similar pattern during the selected time periods, but the central tendency shifted across different time periods. For example, in the morning peak hour, there is little difference in travel time along the study corridor for different phases of LRT operation. A shift in the cumulative travel times can be seen in the afternoon, specifically while looking into the twelfth month of LRT operation. Similarly, an improvement in travel time per mile can be seen in the evening peak hours after the LRT was opened for complete service. The median travel time varied from 1.5–2.5 minutes/mile in all the selected hours of analysis.

Influence on the Parallel Route (I-85)

A corridor-level analysis was also performed for the I-85 parallel route (Figure 17). The travel time distributions for morning peak hour substantiate the results from the link-level analysis. The 50th percentile travel time is found to be approximately one minute/mile in all the selected scenarios. However, an overall shift in distribution was also observed beyond the 50th percentile normalized travel time for morning and evening peak hours. The deterioration in the PT or the 95th percentile travel time, as well as buffer measures (the difference between ATT and PT), can be observed from Figure 9, similar to observations in the link-level analysis. However, during the morning and evening peak hours, a shift in travel time distribution was observed beyond the 50th percentile. The travel time per mile is observed to be at a minimum before the opening of the LRT for service. Overall, the results indicate that the parallel route (I-85), a freeway, is more reliable for daily commutes and is still the first-choice preference for daily commutes in the study region.

Influence on the Near Vicinity Cross-streets

The results for the cross-street analysis are shown in Figure 18. The travel time distribution for cross-streets follows a similar pattern during the morning peak and afternoon peak hours. The

corridor-level travel time is at a minimum for the twelfth month of LRT operation when considering the morning peak hour. The median travel time ranges from 1.5 to 2 minutes/mile in the morning, afternoon, and evening peak hours, whereas the median travel time during the nighttime is ~one minute/mile. The high dispersion (or variability) in the TTR distribution can be observed in all selected scenarios.

One point that arises from the corridor-level analysis is the difference in morning and evening peak hour commutes in the study region. In general, there is a significant difference in travel time patterns between the morning peak and evening peak hours. In Charlotte, North Carolina, the majority of people seeking to travel during rush hours use personal cars. In general, the peak evening commute happens between 3:00 PM and 7:00 PM. Based on working hours, an uneven trip distribution is possible during this entire peak hour, rather than commuters favoring a single peak hour. Besides, the variations in normalized travel times were observed to be minimal from 12:00 PM – 1:00 PM and 8:00 PM – 9:00 PM for the selected categories of roads in the TTR assessment.



Figure 16. Cumulative Distribution of Travel Times: N Tryon St



Figure 17. Cumulative Distribution of Travel Times: I-85 Parallel Route



Figure 18. Cumulative Distribution of Travel Times: Near Vicinity Cross-streets

Testing the Statistical Significance

To understand the statistical significance of changes in TTR measures (ATT, PT, BT, BTI, and PTI), a paired t-test analysis was conducted at a 95% confidence level. Generally, the one-tail paired t-test is used for before-and-after comparisons of the same subject matter. The null hypothesis is H0: TTR measure remained the same during a phase of LRT operation compared to the network without the LRT (for example, BT for a network without LRT minus BT for the sixth month of LRT operation is equal to 0). The alternate hypothesis is H1: TTR measure decreased during a phase of LRT operation (for example, BT for a network without LRT minus BT for the sixth month of LRT operation is less than 0). The mathematical representations of the null and alternate hypotheses are shown as equations 4 and 5.

$$H_0: TTR_d = 0 \tag{4}$$

$$H_1: TTR_d < 0 \tag{5}$$

In these equations, TTR is the difference in the selected TTR measure over different phases of LRT operation compared to the network without LRT.

The test results for the entire study area are summarized in Table 7. The statistical significance of the variations in travel time performance measures was found to be particularly less in the case of N Tryon St (LRT extension corridor). The results are insignificant in the majority of cases in the morning and evening peak hours. Moreover, there exists a statistically significant improvement in TTR during the afternoon and evening peak hours in the study corridor in different phases of LRT operation. A balance between the travel time lost due to frequent lane closures and the benefits associated with the parallel route choice for commuters may be considered as the reason behind such a result.

While looking into the parallel route, as observed in the link-level and corridor-level analysis, there is a clear trend of a worsening in TTR. In most cases, there is a statistically significant worsening in TTR at a 95% confidence level. In the case of cross-street links, the change in reliability is found to be marginal compared to the parallel route. While considering the morning peak hour, PTI showed statistically significant deterioration in all the LRT operation scenarios.

TTR	Scopario		Study (Corridor			Paralle	I Route		Nea	ar Vicinity	Cross-stre	ets
measure	Scenario	М	A	E	Ν	М	Α	E	N	М	Α	E	N
	Network without LRT: Sixth month of operation	0.25	0.06	0.39	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.25	0.11	0.17	0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.05
ATT	Network without LRT: Twelfth month of operation	0.23	< 0.05	0.26	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
	Network without LRT: Eighteenth month of operation	0.33	0.16	0.30	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.45	< 0.05	0.11	0.45
	Network without LRT: Sixth month of operation	0.42	< 0.05	0.32	< 0.05	0.15	< 0.05	0.08	< 0.05	0.25	0.08	0.47	0.25
PT	Network without LRT: Twelfth month of operation	0.28	< 0.05	0.23	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.44	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.25	< 0.05
	Network without LRT: Eighteenth month	0.42	0.26	0.10	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.06	0.16	< 0.05	0.06
	Network without LRT: Sixth month of operation	0.37	< 0.05	0.31	< 0.05	0.19	< 0.05	0.07	< 0.05	0.43	0.19	0.22	0.43
ВТ	Network without LRT: Twelfth month of operation	0.39	< 0.05	0.30	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.16	0.06	< 0.05
	Network without LRT: Eighteenth month	0.11	0.33	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.16	< 0.05	< 0.05
	Network without LRT: Sixth month of operation	0.06	0.21	0.48	< 0.05	0.17	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.15	0.29	0.45	0.15
BTI	Network without LRT: Twelfth month of operation	0.43	< 0.05	0.50	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.22	< 0.05	< 0.05
	Network without LRT: Eighteenth month	< 0.05	0.05	< 0.05	0.06	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
	Network without LRT: Sixth month of operation	0.06	0.21	0.48	< 0.05	0.17	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.15	0.29	0.45	0.15
PTI	Network without LRT: Twelfth month of operation	0.43	< 0.05	0.50	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.22	< 0.05	< 0.05
	Network without LRT: Eighteenth month	< 0.05	0.05	< 0.05	0.06	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05

Table 7. Results: Statistical Analysis

Notes: Grey shaded cells indicate worsening at a 95% confidence level. M: morning peak (7:00 AM-8:00 AM), A: afternoon (12:00 PM-1:00 PM), E: evening peak (5:00 PM-6:00 PM), N: nighttime (8:00 PM-9:00 PM).

V. Simulation-Based Assessment

This chapter presents the analytical scenarios, methodology, and results from the simulation-based assessment.

5.1 Analytical Scenarios

This section summarizes the analytical scenarios developed using Vissim traffic simulation software.

2016 No Build Scenario

The Blue Line LRT extension from uptown Charlotte to UNC Charlotte's main campus was under construction during 2016. Lane closures were common at most of the intersections. General practice was to close the left-turn lanes, convert the leftmost through lane into a left-turn lane, and decrease the number of through lanes by one. Road inventory data from Google Earth for the associated time period was used to build the network to precisely replicate the then-existing conditions. There were no on-street bicycle lanes at any of the selected intersections on the study corridor.

2017 Build but LRT not in Operation Scenario

The construction of the Blue Line LRT extension was completed in 2017. The number of lanes during the pre-construction scenario were added back on most of the links. All the closed left-turn lanes were restored, and the lane drops for through movement were added back. However, there were lateral shifts in the lane configurations with the center of the road being occupied by the LRT. The LRT was not yet in operation in 2017. Some test runs were conducted during the fall of 2017.

2018 Build and LRT in Operation Scenario

The Blue Line LRT started to operate along the route on March 16, 2018. The turning movement counts obtained from the city of Charlotte Department of Transportation (CDoT) were recorded at the end of April and the beginning of May. The data used in this scenario were collected 45 days after the LRT came into operation.

Only one park and ride facility is available along the study corridor; it was situated at the N Tryon St & JW Clay Blvd intersection. The park and ride facility at this intersection has 800 parking spaces to attract commuters. An increase in pedestrian activity was observed due to the addition of the park and ride facility and the LRT system. To encourage more pedestrian traffic and bicyclists

in the area, an additional five feet of on-street bicycle lanes were also added along the shoulder on N Tryon St along with provision for scooters at the pedestrian waiting areas at intersections. However, pedestrian activity and bicyclist activity were ignored in this scenario. Only LRT trains were assumed to operate in this scenario.

2018 Build and LRT is in Operation with Pedestrian Activity Scenario

After the Blue Line LRT came into operation, the pedestrian counts increased significantly at some intersections. With a park and ride facility of over 800 parking spaces at N Tryon St & JW Clay Blvd intersection and several residential communities being situated within a half-mile radius of the LRT stations, the pedestrian counts at Institute Cir, JW Clay Blvd, and J M Keynes Dr intersections were affected. Also, there are transit bus stops within the close vicinity (a half-mile) of the LRT stations, driving the pedestrian counts to go up further, as expected. The pedestrian counts were collected 45 days after the LRT came into operation. Additional pedestrian data were collected using count boards at selected intersections for every 15-minute interval during the morning and evening peak hours. This data was collected in November 2018, which is about eight months after the LRT came into operation, to capture any missing numbers.

While collecting pedestrian data at the selected intersections, it was observed that most of the pedestrians follow a platoon movement, possibly because the pedestrian crossing is driven by the train timings. It was also observed that there is minimal to no signal timing preemption for pedestrians. The pedestrians typically use the same green time assigned to the vehicular movement. There is no mid-block or unsignalized crosswalks along the study corridor. Multiple simulation models were developed with the CDoT data, observed pedestrian data, and extrapolated pedestrian data at the selected intersections to evaluate the influence of pedestrian activity on transportation system performance.

2018 Build and LRT in Operation with Pedestrian & Bicyclist Activity Scenario

No data dedicated to bicycle counts were previously recorded. The only bicycle data available came through the observations made during pedestrian data collection. Though on-street bicycle lanes were constructed in 2018, bicycle counts along the network were minimal. These counts were mostly observed at the intersections. The bicyclists were observed to use the green time assigned to the vehicle movement and pedestrians. Multiple simulation models were developed using the observed and extrapolated bicyclist count data at the selected intersections to evaluate the influence of bicyclist activity on transportation system performance.

5.2 Methodology

Turning movement counts, pedestrian counts, bicyclist counts, and signal timing details were collected for simulation modeling and analysis. Traffic simulation models were then developed for each analytical scenario. They are discussed next.

Geometric characteristics like the taper lengths, lane widths, lengths of left- and right-turn lanes, and width and length of on-street bicycle lanes were captured using Google Earth for years 2016, 2017, and 2018. Transit data such as the frequency of trains in an hour, the number of cars on the train, and the duration of time the train stops at a station were collected manually in 2018.

Turning Movement Counts

The vehicle volumes and turning movement counts were obtained from the CDoT. They are typically collected every two years for each intersection. The turning movement counts for all the intersections on the study corridor were requested for years 2012 to 2018. However, there were some missing data for a few intersections during 2016 and 2017, which were estimated based on the available data from previous/preceding years and vehicle volumes at the nearby intersections. Turning movement counts for all the intersections were available for 2018. Appropriate calibration methods were used to validate the precision of collected and estimated turning movement counts data.

The data obtained from CDoT were not collected on the same day for all the intersections, which can probably be attributed to the limited availability of resources. Hence, there were some errors while trying to balance the vehicle volumes. To minimize the balancing errors, the data were segregated into three periods: morning peak period (7:00 AM – 9:00 AM), evening peak period (4:00 PM – 7:00 PM), and off-peak period (10:00 AM – 12:00 PM). Vehicle volume balancing was performed to track inaccuracies in vehicle volumes throughout the study corridor.

Vehicle Volume Balancing

Balancing vehicle volumes is a cumbersome process, especially at a corridor level. The turning movement counts at the selected nine intersections were not collected on the same day. Hence, the collected data might be prone to vehicle volume imbalances as the numbers might be slightly different on the very next day. To obtain realistic numbers, the average vehicle volumes of a peak period (for example, 4:00 PM – 7:00 PM) were used as hourly vehicle volumes.

The Wisconsin Department of Transportation (WsDOT) has developed a tool to minimize the imbalances and adjust the corresponding vehicle volumes along the corridor (WsDOT 2019)⁴⁸. The vehicle volumes for all the intersections (by approach and turning movement direction) are fed into a macro-enabled Excel sheet as raw data. The vehicles already in the network, vehicles

entering the network, vehicles exiting the network, and vehicles making U-turns are all required to balance the vehicle volumes. These vehicle volumes are initially balanced using the vehicle volume balancing tool. The difference in the entering and exiting vehicle volumes at two successive intersections is distributed proportionally based on their corresponding vehicle volumes. The tool runs multiple iterations (maximum of 500) adjusting the vehicle volumes until the differences in vehicle volumes are minimal. In spite of the applying the process, vehicle volume imbalances persist in most of the cases, but they are lower in magnitudes. These imbalances are further adjusted manually to improve the degree of precision (WsDOT 2019).⁴⁸

WsDOT has also provided acceptable values that serve as benchmarks to tally the final remaining errors. This error is defined as Equation 6.

$$Error = \sqrt{\frac{(Raw volume - Balanced volume)^2}{Raw Volume}}$$
(6)

The vehicle volume balancing tools state that an error of less than 3.0 is considered highly acceptable, whereas 3.0 to 4.9 is considered acceptable. Any error greater than 5.0 necessitates further refinement. The balancing at the corridor level in this research was performed with minimal errors using the abovementioned procedure. A maximum error of 4.2 was reported for the study corridor.

Missing data in the vehicle volumes at intersections along the study corridor were projected based on the available vehicle volumes from adjacent intersections. The relative vehicle volume ratios were calculated for the intersections that had data for years 2016 and 2017 against 2018 volumes. 2018 was considered a base scenario because of the availability of vehicle volume data for all the selected intersections. These ratios were then used to project any missing data for the two previous years.

Pedestrian and Bicyclist Counts

Pedestrian counts were collected manually at intersections with possible interactions between pedestrians and other modes of transportation after the LRT is in operation. Among all the intersections, pedestrian counts were the highest at JW Clay Blvd, followed by Institute Cir and McCullough Dr. The increase in pedestrian counts can be attributed to people walking toward the LRT station from the university or the residential communities in close vicinity. The LRT parking deck at N Tryon St & JW Clay Blvd also adds to the pedestrian counts. It is situated across the street from the station. This is the only station in the selected study corridor with parking services. Bicyclist counts were low as opposed to an expected increase in activity after the LRT is in operation.

Signal Timings

The traffic signal timings and phasing patterns for selected intersections were obtained from the CDoT. The signal controllers for the intersections in the study corridor are of Ring and Barrier Controller (RBC) type. This controller is typically designed by allocating phases in a continuous loop termed as the "ring," with the "barrier" being phased with conflicting movements. In other words, the ring represents the continuous phases that are operated in the desired order while the barrier is used to separate the conflicting phases at an intersection. The interval and clearance time are used to separate the vehicular movements in time. The data obtained from the CDoT comprised the phases and their corresponding timings for patterns allocated differently during different times of the day.

Vissim Simulation Models

Maps were used in the background of Vissim to build the model and replicate the geographical offsets between traffic signals. The cross-streets, however, were modeled only for relatively shorter lengths, as the influence on N Tryon St was the focus of this research.

The signals at all the intersections are RBC type, which allows the designers to design different phase timings for each intersection during different times of the day. As discussed earlier, the pedestrian activity is considerably higher at three intersections, Institute Cir, JW Clay Blvd, and J M Keynes Dr, compared to the other intersections on the study corridor. Pedestrian crosswalks are available at all the signalized intersections along the corridor with provision for pedestrian signal timing as well. The pedestrian signal is phased such that pedestrians' movement is parallel to the traffic to avoid movement conflicts.

The LRT is designed to run parallel to N Tryon St, and it is segregated as a public transit line, which helps differentiate it from regular vehicular traffic. This also allows the modeler to assign traffic signal priority to the LRT by placing detectors at each intersection. While this is advantageous to the through and right traffic movements that run parallel to the LRT system on N Tryon St, the vehicles on the cross-streets experience added delays and difficulties, as they also have to yield to the pedestrians crossing N Tryon St in the given green time. This might also mean that the pedestrians crossing N Tryon St have to wait for two cycles to cross safely sometimes.

The priority rules were defined such that any right-turning vehicle will have to yield to through traffic at an intersection. Pedestrians were given priority over vehicles and bicycles for simulating traffic conditions using the Vissim traffic simulation software.

The turning movement count data obtained from the CDoT were balanced using the macro file provided by the WsDOT. There are 20 locations with vehicle inputs in the network. Table 8

shows vehicle inputs for all 20 locations for all years of the analysis. About a 5% increase in the vehicle volume per year was observed at the considered intersections.

Approach	V	ehicle Inpu	ts
	2016	2017	2018
N Tryon St & University City Blvd (NB)	726	764	802
N Tryon St & University City Blvd (EB)	645	679	713
N Tryon St & University City Blvd (WB)	1009	1062	1115
N Tryon St & University Pointe Blvd (EB)	261	275	289
N Tryon St & University Pointe Blvd (WB)	201	212	223
N Tryon St & McCullough Dr (EB)	102	107	112
N Tryon St & McCullough Dr (WB)	402	423	444
N Tryon St & Ken Hoffmann Dr (EB)	217	228	239
N Tryon St & Ken Hoffmann Dr (WB)	180	189	198
N Tryon St & WWT Harris Blvd (EB)	1714	1804	1894
N Tryon St & WWT Harris Blvd (WB)	1590	1674	1758
N Tryon St & J M Keynes Dr (EB)	104	109	114
N Tryon St & J M Keynes Dr (WB)	36	38	40
N Tryon St & JW Clay Blvd (EB)	257	271	285
N Tryon St & JW Clay Blvd (WB)	200	210	221
N Tryon St & Institute Cir (EB)	393	414	435
N Tryon St & Institute Cir (WB)	229	241	253
N Tryon St & Mallard Creek Church Rd (SB)	779	820	861
N Tryon St & Mallard Creek Church Rd (EB)	1336	1406	1476
N Tryon St & Mallard Creek Church Rd (WB)	932	981	1030

Table 8. Vehicle Inputs: Evening Peak Period

EB, NB, SB, and WB are eastbound, northbound, southbound, and westbound, respectively.

Input parameters such as the vehicle volumes were allocated at each cross-street and the end of each major street (both ends). Based on the balanced vehicle volumes, the routes were allocated from each major route by analytical scenario (study year). Based on the percentage of the allocated route, the percentages and their corresponding origin and destinations were input. The three major intersections (University City Blvd, E WT Harris Blvd, and E Mallard Creek Church Rd) were taken as control points for assigning the "static vehicle routes" in Vissim. The vehicle compositions were allocated as 3% heavy vehicles (trucks and buses) and 97% cars (with most of the cars in the sedan class).

To reflect the speeds of the vehicles in the arterial corridor, travel time and speed data were used to generate cumulative distribution function curves (S-curves) and are reflected in the speed distribution of the vehicles. The desired speed distributions were allocated by the direction of travel (southbound and northbound) in the Vissim traffic simulation software.

Simulation models were generated using PTV Vissim 11 for each analytical scenario. Each model was calibrated by comparing the simulated number of vehicles and the vehicle volumes input into Vissim. The percentage differences were observed to be less than 15%. Visual observations were used to ensure that the model would run as expected in the field. These observations were also used to build nodes for capturing data for each approach and at intersection levels.

The results presented are for the evening peak period (4:00 PM – 7:00 PM). The simulation is set to run for a total of 75 minutes, of which the last 60 minutes are considered to generate outputs. They were generated using three different random seed numbers. The average of the three random seed numbers was used for tabulations and interpretations.

5.3 Results Based on Simulation Analysis

Delays for vehicles in Vissim were computed using the extra time a vehicle takes in the simulation than the ideal allocated time. It was computed as the difference between the ideal travel time from the actual travel time (PTV Group 2019)⁹. Vehicle delay is quantified by approach (defined consistently along the study corridor as shown in Figure 19) rather than by intersection to observe the influence by the direction of travel due to the change in geometric conditions and the addition of LRT across the first three scenarios. Pedestrian and bicyclist activity were added sequentially to the 2018 build scenario and the LRT in operation scenario in the last two analytical scenarios. Queue length, maximum queue length, and LOS were quantified to identify the performance at the intersection approaches. The maximum queue length is also the maximum value considering all the intersection approaches.



Figure 19. N Tryon St & Institute Cir Intersection with Approaches

2016 No Build Scenario

The cross-streets north of E WT Harris Blvd heading in the northbound direction bring in significant traffic, resulting in congested conditions. The geometric conditions in the direction of the traffic flow during the period of analysis did not change significantly during LRT system construction. The majority of the lane closures observed during LRT system construction were along the southbound approaches.

The results are divided into vehicle delays for the northbound approaches, vehicle delay for the southbound approaches, and vehicle delays on the cross-street approaches. Vehicle delay results for this scenario are presented in Tables 9, 10, and 11. Some approaches along the same direction of travel have different signal phase timings. Therefore, the vehicle delay results are reported by

the phase of a given signal. The addition of vehicle delay results by signal phase allows for comparison with other scenarios (for example, during a 2018 LRT in operation scenario).

Intersection 1	Intersection 2	D
University City Blvd	University Pointe Blvd	10.66
University Pointe Blvd	McCullough Dr	16.83
McCullough Dr	Ken Hoffman Dr	24.83
Ken Hoffman Dr	E WT Harris Blvd	32.79
E WT Harris Blvd	J M Keynes Dr	27.74
J M Keynes Dr	JW Clay Blvd	39.96
JW Clay Blvd	Institute Cir	53.41
Institute Cir	E Mallard Creek Church Rd	46.40

 Table 9. Vehicle Delay between Successive Intersections: Northbound Approach

 (No Build)

D is vehicle delay in seconds.

Table 10. Vehicle Delay between Successive Intersections: Southbound Approach (No Build)

Intersection 1	Intersection 2	D
E Mallard Creek Church Rd	Institute Cir	378.49
Institute Cir	JW Clay Blvd	429.20
JW Clay Blvd	J M Keynes Dr	36.69
J M Keynes Dr	E WT Harris Blvd	34.21
E WT Harris Blvd	Ken Hoffman Dr	22.04
Ken Hoffman Dr	McCullough Dr	23.15
McCullough Dr	University Pointe Blvd	23.93
University Pointe Blvd	University City Blvd	3.99

D is vehicle delay in seconds.

The northbound approach vehicle delay values are less than 1 minute. The vehicle delay is relatively higher for JW Clay Blvd and Institute Cir intersections in the northbound direction during the no build scenario. These vehicle delays can be attributed to the vehicle volumes generated at the cross-streets from the university area.

Cross-street]	D
	Eastbound	Westbound
University City Blvd	55.66	480.23
University Pointe Blvd	20.93	31.19
McCullough Dr	154.85	8.70
Ken Hoffman Dr	14.88	0.28
E WT Harris Blvd	35.13	35.57
J M Keynes Dr	58.86	26.65
JW Clay Blvd	34.36	8.37
Institute Cir	43.42	33.00

Table 11. Vehicle Delay along Eastbound and Westbound Approaches by Intersection (No Build)

D is vehicle delay in seconds.

The vehicle delay values are higher for the southbound approaches compared to the other approaches. The vehicle delay is very high at E Mallard Creek Church Rd and Institute Cir intersections of the southbound approaches during the no build scenario. Due to the LRT construction, one through lane along the southbound direction is closed to vehicular traffic starting at the intersection of N Tryon St & E Mallard Creek Church Rd until the intersection of N Tryon St & JW Clay Blvd. The traffic from the university is headed toward I-85 during this period, leading to an increased vehicle delay of up to seven minutes.

Vehicle delays for the eastbound approaches is the highest at McCullough Dr intersection, equal to 154.85 seconds. On the other hand, the vehicle delay for westbound approaches are the highest at University City Blvd intersection, equal to 480.23 seconds. These high vehicle delay values at the cross-streets are attributed to the traffic generated near the commercial and office areas.

2017 Build but LRT Not in Operation Scenario

In this scenario, all the proposed geometric road changes after the construction of the LRT are present. To incorporate heterogeneous traffic conditions and models from a multimodal perspective, on-street bicycle lanes and pedestrian waiting/crossing areas were built into the model. However, not much activity was observed at most of the intersections, as the LRT system was still not in operation. In other words, this scenario can be considered as the scenario for vehicles where no other mode of transportation (including the LRT system) would hinder vehicle operations (though geometric conditions are fairly similar to 2018 LRT in operation scenario).

The results are divided into vehicle delay for the northbound approaches, vehicle delay for the southbound approaches, and vehicle delay on the cross-street approaches. They are presented in

Tables 12, 13, and 14. The percent difference compared to the no build scenario is also presented in the Tables.

Table 12. Vehicle Delay between Successive Intersections: Northbound Approach(Build but LRT is Not in Operation)

Intersection 1	Intersection 2	D	Р
University City Blvd	University Pointe Blvd	35.28	231.00
University Pointe Blvd	McCullough Dr	27.06	60.80
McCullough Dr	Ken Hoffman Dr	19.51	-21.40
Ken Hoffman Dr	E WT Harris Blvd	26.44	-19.40
E WT Harris Blvd	J M Keynes Dr	47.12	69.90
J M Keynes Dr	JW Clay Blvd	143.89	260.10
JW Clay Blvd	Institute Cir	207.44	288.40
Institute Cir	E Mallard Creek Church Rd	31.51	-32.10

D is vehicle delay in seconds; P is % diff. compared to no build scenario.

Table 13. Vehicle Delay between Successive Intersections: Southbound Approach(Build but LRT is Not in Operation)

Intersection 1	Intersection 2	D	Р
E Mallard Creek Church Rd	Institute Cir	59.95	-84.20
Institute Cir	JW Clay Blvd	306.77	-28.50
JW Clay Blvd	J M Keynes Dr	35.25	-3.90
J M Keynes Dr	E WT Harris Blvd	29.83	-12.80
E WT Harris Blvd	Ken Hoffman Dr	29.99	36.10
Ken Hoffman Dr	McCullough Dr	18.03	-22.10
McCullough Dr	University Pointe Blvd	20.61	-13.90
University Pointe Blvd	University City Blvd	33.73	745.40

D is vehicle delay in seconds; P is % diff. compared to no build scenario.

As observed based on the travel patterns, there was an increase in the overall vehicle delay along all the northbound approaches. The intersections at JW Clay Blvd and J M Keynes Dr on N Tryon St have an increase in the vehicle delay.

When southbound approaches are considered, there was a significant decrease in vehicle delay at Institute Cir and a minor decrease in vehicle delay at JW Clay Blvd on N Tryon St. The addition of an exclusive right lane, heading toward I-85, helped to mitigate the vehicle delay at these

intersections. It should be noted that both these intersections are closely spaced. There was a marginal increase in vehicle delay at all other southbound approaches. This could be due to an increase in the vehicle volume.

Cross-street	Eastbound		West	bound
	D	Р	D	Р
University City Blvd	183.17	229.09	20.07	-95.82
University Pointe Blvd	81.90	291.30	14.71	-52.84
McCullough Dr	70.46	-54.50	42.90	393.10
Ken Hoffman Dr	56.00	276.34	65.63	>500.00
E WT Harris Blvd	42.32	20.47	0.28	-99.21
J M Keynes Dr	16.36	-72.21	10.39	-61.01
JW Clay Blvd	2.26	-93.42	30.74	267.26
Institute Cir	9.51	-78.10	73.45	122.58

Table 14. Vehicle Delay along Eastbound and Westbound Approaches by Intersection (Build but LRT is Not in Operation)

D is vehicle delay in seconds; P is % diff. compared to no build scenario.

Due to the addition of lanes along the corridor, an increase in traffic volume was observed from the data provided by the CDoT. The vehicle delays along the cross-street approaches did not increase significantly. However, a roughly 200% increase in vehicle delay was observed on the eastbound approach along University City Blvd. A decrease in vehicle delay was observed on the University City Blvd westbound approach when compared to the no build scenario. Even with the increase in vehicle volume, there was a decrease in the vehicle delay on this approach, as the travel patterns (static vehicle routes in Vissim) indicate that more vehicles were traveling along the major approach of N Tryon St.

2018 Build and LRT in Operation Scenario

All geometric changes associated with the LRT construction project were considered complete in this scenario. The LRT system was in operation. Eight trains per hour were observed operating during the evening peak period. While on-street bicycle lanes, crosswalks, and sidewalks were built into the model, pedestrian and bicyclist activity was ignored. In other words, only the influence of the LRT system in operation was examined in this scenario.

The results are divided into vehicle delay for the northbound approaches, vehicle delay for the southbound approaches, and vehicle delay on the cross-street approaches. Tables 15, 16, and 17 show the vehicle delay results obtained for this scenario. The percent differences compared to the scenario with build but no LRT operation are also presented in the tables.

Signal preemption is provided to the traffic in northbound and southbound directions to accommodate the LRT system. This would mean that the cross-streets at all the intersections, excluding the intersections at University City Blvd and E WT Harris Blvd, would receive relatively reduced green times in the signal cycle. In other words, eastbound and westbound traffic need to wait for longer durations with red light, as priority is given to LRT and N Tryon St.

Table 15. Vehicle Delay between Successive Intersections: Northbound Approach(Build and LRT is in Operation)

Intersection 1	Intersection 2	D	Р
University City Blvd	University Pointe Blvd	34.03	-3.50
University Pointe Blvd	McCullough Dr	27.66	2.20
McCullough Dr	Ken Hoffman Dr	17.43	-10.70
Ken Hoffman Dr	E WT Harris Blvd	33.06	25.00
E WT Harris Blvd	J M Keynes Dr	78.63	66.90
J M Keynes Dr	JW Clay Blvd	188.25	30.80
JW Clay Blvd	Institute Cir	245.83	18.50
Institute Cir	E Mallard Creek Church Rd	28.54	-9.40

D is vehicle delay in seconds; P is % diff. compared to build but LRT is not in operation scenario.

 Table 16. Vehicle Delay between Successive Intersections: Southbound Approach

 (Build and LRT is in Operation)

Intersection 1	Intersection 2	D	Р
E Mallard Creek Church Rd	Institute Cir	87.06	45.20
Institute Cir	JW Clay Blvd	316.24	3.10
JW Clay Blvd	J M Keynes Dr	35.99	2.10
J M Keynes Dr	E WT Harris Blvd	28.82	-3.40
E WT Harris Blvd	Ken Hoffman Dr	30.33	1.10
Ken Hoffman Dr	McCullough Dr	17.23	-4.40
McCullough Dr	University Pointe Blvd	21.26	3.20
University Pointe Blvd	University City Blvd	43.66	29.40

D is vehicle delay in seconds; P is % diff. compared to build but LRT is not in operation scenario.

Cross-street	Eastbound		West	bound
	D	Р	D	Р
University City Blvd	173.18	-5.50	21.01	4.70
University Pointe Blvd	134.66	64.40	16.68	13.40
McCullough Dr	76.57	8.70	64.15	49.50
Ken Hoffman Dr	65.84	17.60	102.81	56.70
E WT Harris Blvd	41.47	-2.00	2.60	828.60
J M Keynes Dr	15.78	-3.50	11.56	11.30
JW Clay Blvd	19.45	760.60	81.49	165.10
Institute Cir	29.46	209.80	65.15	-11.30

Table 17. Vehicle Delay along Eastbound and Westbound Approaches by the Intersection (Build and LRT is in Operation)

D is vehicle delay in seconds; P is % diff. compared to build but LRT is not in operation scenario.

The percentage difference between the vehicle delay values from the LRT in operation to not in operation scenario remains consistently low for the northbound approaches. However, exceptions apply to E WT Harris Blvd intersection with a difference of 67%. The vehicle delay results for the southbound approaches also indicate significantly low percentage difference values in comparison to the northbound approaches with E Mallard Creek Church Rd and University Pointe Blvd being exceptions.

The lane configurations at JW Clay Blvd and Institute Cir were changed by CDoT on the westbound approaches for the traffic heading out of the university, which is considered in the analysis. These lanes were changed to provide exclusive right-turn lanes as opposed to a shared through/right-turn lane at both the intersections to reduce vehicle delay for right-turning vehicles.

When results for the eastbound approaches are observed, JW Clay Blvd and Institute Cir have seen a significant increase in the vehicle delay values compared to the LRT not in operation scenario. On the other hand, when results for the westbound approaches are observed, JW Clay Blvd and E WT Harris Blvd have seen a significant increase in the vehicle delay values compared to the LRT not in operation scenario.

2018 Build and LRT in Operation Based on LRT Frequency

The frequency of LRT in operation during the evening peak period was observed as eight trains per hour. The frequency is lower during off-peak hours. To assess the influence during off-peak hours, an analysis was also conducted using four and six trains per hour. Vehicle delay along all the approaches at the intersections in the study corridor are summarized in Tables 18, 19, and 20. In Table 18, no specific trend was observed though marginal decrease in vehicle delay was observed along a few northbound approaches with the increase in LRT frequency. Contrarily, a decrease in vehicle delay was observed along most of the southbound approaches with the increase in LRT frequency (Table 19). The trends indicate an increase in vehicle delay along the eastbound and westbound approaches with an increase in LRT frequency (Table 20). Decreases in vehicle delays in northbound and southbound approaches as well as increases in vehicle delay for eastbound and westbound approaches could be attributed to the increase in green times for traffic on northbound and southbound directions with the increase in LRT frequency. The counterintuitive trends are due to higher vehicle delays for the left-turning traffic at some intersections.

Intersection 1	1 Intersection 2 LRT Trains / Hour		Iour	
		4	6	8
University City Blvd	University Pointe Blvd	29.10	31.25	34.03
University Pointe Blvd	McCullough Dr	29.84	32.45	27.66
McCullough Dr	Ken Hoffman Dr	14.64	19.23	17.43
Ken Hoffman Dr	E WT Harris Blvd	48.54	50.04	33.06
E WT Harris Blvd	J M Keynes Dr	25.64	32.25	78.63
J M Keynes Dr	JW Clay Blvd	231.45	202.58	188.25
JW Clay Blvd	Institute Cir	234.60	240.23	245.83
Institute Cir	E Mallard Creek Church Rd	22.55	28.65	28.54

Table 18. Vehicle Delay between Successive Intersections Based on LRT Frequency:

Northbound Approach

Note: 2018 LRT in operation scenario was considered.

Intersection 1	Intersection 2	LRT Trains / Hour		lour
		4	6	8
University City Blvd	University Pointe Blvd	92.54	88.87	87.06
University Pointe Blvd	McCullough Dr	172.56	169.36	316.24
McCullough Dr	Ken Hoffman Dr	113.46	103.42	35.99
Ken Hoffman Dr	E WT Harris Blvd	85.46	96.50	28.82
E WT Harris Blvd	J M Keynes Dr	35.65	33.08	30.33
J M Keynes Dr	JW Clay Blvd	10.45	12.17	17.23
JW Clay Blvd	Institute Cir	62.54	54.46	21.26
Institute Cir	E Mallard Creek Church Rd	81.54	62.45	43.66

Table 19. Vehicle Delay between Successive Intersections Based on LRT Frequency: Southbound Approach

Note: 2018 LRT in operation scenario was considered.

Table 20. Vehicle Delay along Eastbound and Westbound Approaches by Intersection Based on LRT Frequency

Cross-street	Eastbound				Westbound	
LRT Trains / Hour	4	6	8	4	6	8
University City Blvd	128.65	148.43	173.18	14.54	18.54	21.01
University Pointe Blvd	82.54	112.55	134.66	12.54	14.22	16.68
McCullough Dr	48.21	68.21	76.57	42.47	50.35	64.15
Ken Hoffman Dr	18.25	54.15	65.84	60.22	81.26	102.81
E WT Harris Blvd	32.54	34.23	41.47	2.44	2.45	2.60
J M Keynes Dr	14.56	14.00	15.78	12.10	10.22	11.56
JW Clay Blvd	17.86	17.54	19.45	51.21	65.42	81.49
Institute Cir	26.51	24.51	29.46	22.14	34.32	65.15

Note: 2018 LRT in operation scenario was considered.

2018 Build and LRT in Operation with Pedestrian Activity Scenario

To make conditions more heterogeneous, pedestrian activity was added to the 2018 build and LRT in operation scenario with eight trains per hour. The results are divided into vehicle delays for northbound and southbound approaches in addition to cross-street approaches. Tables 21, 22, and 23 show vehicle delay results for this scenario with pedestrian activity. The percent differences compared to the "LRT is in operation" scenario is also presented in the tables.

Intersection 1	Intersection 2	D	Р
University City Blvd	University Pointe Blvd	42.22	24.1
University Pointe Blvd	McCullough Dr	22.45	-18.8
McCullough Dr	Ken Hoffman Dr	15.22	-12.7
Ken Hoffman Dr	E WT Harris Blvd	48.06	45.4
E WT Harris Blvd	J M Keynes Dr	85.43	8.6
J M Keynes Dr	JW Clay Blvd	144.22	-23.4
JW Clay Blvd	Institute Cir	220.22	-10.4
Institute Cir	E Mallard Creek Church Rd	36.22	26.9

Table 21. Vehicle Delay Results between Successive Intersections due to Pedestrian Activity:Northbound Approach (Build and LRT is in Operation)

D is vehicle delay in seconds; P is % diff. compared to build and LRT is in operation scenario.

The pedestrian activity was found to be greatest during peak hours at the intersections of JW Clay Blvd (149 pedestrians) and Institute Cir (109 pedestrians). The pedestrian signals are activated using the pushbuttons; pedestrians are provided a walk phase when the vehicular traffic in the same direction of travel has a green phase.

The influence of an increase in pedestrian activity at the intersections was also studied. However, no change in vehicle delay was observed. The minimal influence of pedestrian activity on vehicle traffic could be due to a lack of signal preemption for pedestrians or higher vehicular green times compared to the time allocated for pedestrians to cross the street.

 Table 22. Vehicle Delay between Successive Intersections due to Pedestrian Activity:

Southbound Approach (Build and LRT is in Operation)

Intersection 1	Intersection 2	D	Р
E Mallard Creek Church Rd	Institute Cir	69.06	-20.70
Institute Cir	JW Clay Blvd	285.06	-9.90
JW Clay Blvd	J M Keynes Dr	41.87	16.30
J M Keynes Dr	E WT Harris Blvd	26.43	-8.30
E WT Harris Blvd	Ken Hoffman Dr	25.98	-14.30
Ken Hoffman Dr	McCullough Dr	15.22	-11.70
McCullough Dr	University Pointe Blvd	17.26	-18.80
University Pointe Blvd	University City Blvd	38.65	-11.50

D is vehicle delay in seconds; P is % diff. compared to build and LRT is in operation scenario.

Cross-street	Eastbound		Westbound	
	D	Р	D	Р
University City Blvd	158.39	-8.5	19.22	-8.5
University Pointe Blvd	132.55	-1.6	15.48	-7.2
McCullough Dr	72.43	-5.4	58.26	-9.2
Ken Hoffman Dr	67.22	2.1	121.82	18.5
E WT Harris Blvd	39.04	-5.9	4.54	74.6
J M Keynes Dr	14.54	-7.9	12.65	9.4
JW Clay Blvd	21.22	9.1	78.22	-4.0
Institute Cir	24.56	-16.6	62.32	-4.3

Table 23. Vehicle Delay along Eastbound and Westbound Approaches by Intersection due to Pedestrian Activity (Build and LRT is in Operation)

D is vehicle delay in seconds; P is % diff. compared to build and LRT is in operation scenario.

When compared across 2016 and 2018, vehicle delays are higher for southbound approaches on N Tryon St during 2016. The southbound approach between E Mallard Creek Church Rd and Institute Cir saw a greater decrease in vehicle delay from 2016 to 2017 and also 2018. There was a decrease in vehicle delay on the southbound approach between Institute Cir and JW Clay Blvd from 2016 to 2017. However, there was not much of a change in vehicle delay from 2017 to 2018 between Institute Cir and JW Clay Blvd. The decrease in vehicle delay can be attributed to geometric improvements between these intersections.

The influence on eastbound and westbound approaches is different when compared to northbound and southbound approaches. This difference could be attributed to changes in geometric conditions and signal phasings/timings along the LRT study corridor. The westbound approach of University City Blvd saw a decrease in vehicle delays from 2016 to 2017 and 2018. However, the vehicle delays along the eastbound approach increased from 2016 to 2017 and 2018. There were several changes in geometric conditions at the JW Clay Blvd and Institute Cir intersections on N Tryon St. The vehicle delays along eastbound approaches decreased, whereas the vehicle delays along westbound approaches increased from 2016 to 2017 and 2018. This could be attributed to proportionally higher green times for key turning movements as well as allowing right turns at red lights.

2018 Build and LRT in Operation with Pedestrian & Bicycle Activity Scenario

In addition to vehicle volumes, LRT, and pedestrian activity, bicycle activity was added at selected intersections to evaluate transportation system performance from a multimodal perspective. The results are divided into vehicle delay for the northbound approaches, vehicle delay for the
southbound approaches, and vehicle delay on the cross-street approaches. Tables 24, 25, and 26 show the vehicle delay results on the corridor with bicycle activity. The percent differences compared to the "LRT is in operation with pedestrian activity" scenario is also presented.

Intersection 1	Intersection 2	D	Р
University City Blvd	University Pointe Blvd	34.03	-19.40
University Pointe Blvd	McCullough Dr	27.66	23.20
McCullough Dr	Ken Hoffman Dr	17.43	14.50
Ken Hoffman Dr	E WT Harris Blvd	33.06	-31.20
E WT Harris Blvd	J M Keynes Dr	78.63	-8.00
J M Keynes Dr	JW Clay Blvd	188.25	30.50
JW Clay Blvd	Institute Cir	245.83	11.60
Institute Cir	E Mallard Creek Church Rd	28.54	-21.20

Table 24. Vehicle Delay between Successive Intersections due to Bicyclist Activity:Northbound Approach (Build and LRT is in Operation)

D is vehicle delay in seconds; P is % diff. compared to LRT is in operation with pedestrian activity scenario.

Table 25. Vehicle Delay between Successive Intersections due to Bicyclist Activity:Southbound Approach (Build and LRT is in Operation)

Intersection 1	Intersection 2	D	Р
E Mallard Creek Church Rd	Institute Cir	87.06	26.10
Institute Cir	JW Clay Blvd	316.24	10.90
JW Clay Blvd	J M Keynes Dr	35.99	-14.00
J M Keynes Dr	E WT Harris Blvd	28.82	9.00
E WT Harris Blvd	Ken Hoffman Dr	30.33	16.70
Ken Hoffman Dr	McCullough Dr	17.23	13.20
McCullough Dr	University Pointe Blvd	21.26	23.20
University Pointe Blvd	University City Blvd	43.66	13.00

D is vehicle delay in seconds; P is % diff. compared to LRT is in operation with pedestrian activity scenario.

Cross-street	Eastbound		Westbound	
	D	Р	D	Р
University City Blvd	173.18	9.30	21.01	9.30
University Pointe Blvd	134.66	1.60	16.68	7.80
McCullough Dr	76.57	5.70	64.15	10.10
Ken Hoffman Dr	65.84	-2.10	102.81	-15.60
E WT Harris Blvd	41.47	6.20	2.60	-42.70
J M Keynes Dr	15.78	8.50	11.56	-8.60
JW Clay Blvd	19.45	-8.30	81.49	4.20
Institute Cir	29.46	20.00	65.15	4.50

Table 26. Vehicle Delay along Eastbound and Westbound Approaches by Intersection due to Bicyclist Activity (Build and LRT is in Operation)

D is vehicle delay in seconds; P is % diff. compared to LRT is in operation with pedestrian activity scenario.

In comparison to pedestrian volume, very few bicyclists were observed during the study period. Geometric changes between 2016 and 2018 include an additional on-street bicycle lane along the corridor. The travel patterns allow bicyclists to traverse the road in parallel to vehicle traffic before approaching the intersection and to travel along the pedestrian crosswalks at the intersection. There are some conflict points along the network where these areas merge, and right-of-way is provided to bicyclists at these locations.

There was no significant increase in vehicle delays between the "LRT is in operation with pedestrian activity" scenario and this scenario with bicyclist activity. The average vehicle delays for the northbound and southbound approaches at all the intersections increased, while there was a slight decrease in the average vehicle delay along the cross-street approaches in the eastbound and westbound directions.

Queue Length and Level of Service (LOS)

The queue length, maximum queue length, and LOS were captured and tabulated for each study intersection. They were captured by creating nodes around the intersections. The nodes are polygonal areas created around an area of interest to capture the operational characteristics. Tables 27, 28, and 29 summarize the queue length, maximum queue length, and LOS for each intersection, respectively. The intersection of E Mallard Creek Church Rd at N Tryon S is not considered in the analysis, as the LRT system does not extend to this intersection, but the vehicle inputs are provided starting from the E Mallard Creek Church Rd and N Tryon St intersection.

Cross-street	Queue length (feet)		
	2016	2017	2018
University City Blvd	20.24	91.10	104.31
University Pointe Blvd	15.94	21.34	21.29
McCullough Dr	39.26	28.50	30.05
Ken Hoffman Dr	30.06	32.37	48.76
E WT Harris Blvd	33.99	30.40	67.66
J M Keynes Blvd	33.58	66.58	149.46
JW Clay Blvd	291.81	379.28	439.75
Institute Cir	266.56	208.71	259.54

Table 27. Queue Length at Intersections on N Tryon St

Table 28. Maximum Queue Length at Intersections on N Tryon St

Cross-street	Max	feet)	
	2016	2017	2018
University City Blvd	97.84	1032.27	1079.15
University Pointe Blvd	282.10	436.68	449.87
McCullough Dr	355.80	360.87	413.91
Ken Hoffman Dr	360.74	401.95	767.87
E WT Harris Blvd	430.72	302.91	715.62
J M Keynes Blvd	306.96	863.32	1268.30
JW Clay Blvd	1312.82	1344.81	1347.47
Institute Cir	1658.85	1538.92	1553.45

From 2016 to 2018, queue length increased at all intersections. One notable example is the intersection at University City Blvd. A comparison of queue lengths at selected intersections between 2017 and 2018 would summarize the influence of the LRT system on vehicular traffic.

Cross-street	LOS		
	2016	2017	2018
University City Blvd	E	F	F
University Pointe Blvd	С	С	С
McCullough Dr	С	С	С
Ken Hoffman Dr	С	С	С
E WT Harris Blvd	D	D	D
J M Keynes Blvd	D	E	E
JW Clay Blvd	F	F	F
Institute Cir	F	F	F

Table 29. Level of Service at Intersections on N Tryon St

An increase in queue length between the years for each intersection could be contextualized via an increase in the queue length by approach, all of which can be observed during the simulation. Increases in queue length at University City Blvd and E WT Harris Blvd on N Tryon St is due to the northbound and southbound traffic—mainly due to its accumulation at the intersections. The increase in queue length at JW Clay Blvd and Institute Cir occurs due to queuing along the eastbound and westbound approaches.

The maximum queue length at all intersections has increased from 2017 to 2018. This parameter is a better indicator in some ways compared to the queue length. There is not much of a difference in maximum queue length at the intersections of Institute Cir and JW Clay Blvd. The reason there is no change (or a decrease) in the maximum queue length is the geometric improvements and frequent green times for through movements on N Tryon St to accommodate the LRT system. The maximum queue length would extend until the length of the node in some cases. This indicates that the signal timings at these intersections were not sufficient to accommodate the entire volume of traffic coming off the cross-street even before the LRT was in operation. After the LRT system was in operation, signal timings were adjusted, and lane configurations were changed. That said, vehicle delays along cross-streets increased in some cases.

The levels of service at University City Blvd and J M Keynes Dr on N Tryon St worsened from 2016 to 2017. At all the other intersections, the LOS was found to be the same between 2016 and 2018.

VI. Conclusions

Providing for and encouraging the use of alternative modes of transportation helps to alleviate the growing traffic demand and associated congestion problems. However, the provision of infrastructure elements for alternative modes of transportation results in heterogeneous traffic conditions. This research has examined the influence of the addition of a new mode of travel along a corridor on the performance of vehicular traffic. Travel time and TTR measures with heterogeneous conditions and without heterogeneous conditions were examined. A simulation-based approach was used to examine the influence of the LRT system, pedestrian activity, and bicyclist activity on vehicular traffic.

Travel time and TTR patterns before and after the operation of the LRT system began were examined on the study corridor (N Tryon St), the parallel route (along I-85), and near vicinity cross-streets. The average travel times during peak hours of travel in the study area increased after the LRT system came into operation. Other TTR measures like BT and BTI also increased after the LRT system is in operation. To reveal the statistical significance of the results, a paired t-test was conducted at a 95% confidence level. The statistical significance of the variations in travel time performance measures was found to be particularly less in the case of N Tryon St with the Blue Line LRT extension. The balance between the travel time lost due to frequent lane closures and the benefits associated with the parallel route choice for commuters may be considered as the reason behind the less significant changes observed in TTR measures. In the parallel route, as observed in the link-level and corridor-level analysis, there is a trend of a worsening in TTR. In most cases, there is a statistically significant worsening in TTR at a 95% confidence level. In the case of cross-street links, the change in reliability is found to be marginal compared to the parallel route.

In the simulation-based analysis, all the network characteristics were captured for 2016, 2017, and 2018 to develop the models. Significant geometric changes were made in the network to encourage walking and bicycling along with the use of the LRT system. The traffic signal timings were also changed in 2018, allowing more green time for traffic on N Tryon St and to give priority to the LRT system in operation. Vehicle delay was captured by the direction of travel along the study corridor (N Tryon St) and the cross-streets at each selected intersection. Queue length and level of service were also captured to better understand the influence at the intersection level from a multimodal perspective.

At a corridor level, the results indicate that the cross-streets of N Tryon St incurred a relatively higher increase in vehicle delay after the LRT is in operation. A reduction in total green time for cross-streets at at-grade intersections is the primary reason for these trends. An increase in LRT-related activity also seems to increase the vehicle delay on cross-streets. Observations also indicate that vehicle delay between 2017 and 2018 has not increased by a large margin, while queue length

and maximum queue length have increased. In order to accommodate these vehicles, improvements were made by allowing the vehicles to enter the study corridor from cross-streets using dedicated right-turn lanes.

Along N Tryon St, the vehicle delay during peak hours were found to be consistent in all analytical scenarios. There was an increase in vehicle delay on northbound and southbound approaches of N Tryon St in some cases even after the LRT was in operation. This could be attributed to higher vehicle delays for left-turn traffic at some intersections (having to wait longer to accommodate the LRT system, for example) from N Tryon St. However, a decrease in vehicle delays was observed on the eastbound approaches of JW Clay Blvd and Institute Cir after the LRT is in operation. This could be attributed to the existence of dedicated right-turn lanes for traffic exiting UNC Charlotte's main campus, proportionally higher green times for some key turning movements, and allowing right-turns on red.

Pedestrian and bicyclist counts do not account for even 0.5% of the vehicular traffic at the selected intersections. The scenarios with pedestrian and bicyclist activity indicate that they increase vehicle delay at some intersections. Their influence seems to depend on geometric conditions. No signal preemption or special provisions were observed for pedestrians and bicyclists on the study corridor. Therefore, pedestrian and bicyclist movement are only allowed when the vehicle volume would not conflict with the path of pedestrians and bicyclists.

Safety statistics along the study corridor during the years of analysis could not be explored as data were not readily available at the time of this research. Besides, no dedicated signals for pedestrians and bicyclists exist at present. Research that aims to evaluate these scenarios is recommended.

Endnotes

¹ Vuchic, V. R. (2017). Urban Transit: Operations, Planning, and Economics. John Wiley & Sons.

² Sierpiński, G. (2011). "Travel Behaviour and Alternative Modes of Transportation." Paper presented at the International Conference on Transport Systems Telematics.

³ Texas Transportation Institute. (2015). "2015 Urban Mobility Scorecard." https://static.tti.tamu.edu/tti.tamu.edu/documents/mobility-scorecard-2015.pdf (accessed on June 26, 2019).

⁴ Young, J. (2015). "Infrastructure: Mass Transit in 19th-and 20th-Century Urban America." In *Oxford Research Encyclopedia of American History*.

⁵ Knowles, R. D. (1996). "Transport Impacts of Greater Manchester's Metrolink Light Rail System." *Journal of Transport Geography* 4(1): 1–14.

⁶ Linda, S. (2003). "Can Public Transport Compete with the Private Car?" IATSS Research 27(2):27-35.

⁷ Black, A. (1993). "The Recent Popularity of Light Rail Transit in North America." *Journal of Planning Education* 12(2): 150–59.

⁸ American Public Transportation Association. (2019). "Public Transportation Ridership Report." www.apta.com/research-technical-resources/transit-statistics/ridership-report/ (accessed on June 25, 2019).

⁹ PTV Group. (2019). "PTV Vissim 9 User Manual." Karlsruhe, Germany.

¹⁰ Chandler, C., and L. A. Hoel. (2004). "Effects of Light Rail Transit on Traffic Congestion." Center for Transportation Studies, University of Virginia Charlottesville, VA.

¹¹ Clark, R. R. (1984). "General Guidelines for the Design of Light Rail Transit Facilities in Edmonton." Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. www.trolleycoalition.org (accessed on April 26, 2018).

¹² Knowles, R. D. (1992). "Light Rail Transport." In Whitelegg, J. (Ed.), *Traffic Congestion: Is There a Way Out?* Leading Edge Press & Publishing Ltd., Hawes, 107–130.

¹³ Garrett, T. A. (2004). "Light Rail Transit in America: Policy Issues and Prospects for Economic Development." Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, Research Department.

¹⁴ Arrington, G. B., and R. Cervero. (2008). Effects of Tod on Housing, Parking, and Travel. TCRP Report 128, Transportation Research Board of the National Academies, Washington, DC.

¹⁵ Mackett, R. L., and M. Edwards. (1998). "The Impact of New Urban Public Transport Systems: Will the Expectations Be Met?" *Transport Research Part A: Policy Practice* 32(4): 231–45.

¹⁶ Ewing, R., G. Tian, and A. Spain. (2014). "Effect of Light-Rail Transit on Traffic in a Travel Corridor." *Journal of Public Transportation* 17(4): 93–113.

¹⁷ Venglar, S., D. Fambro, and C. Walters. (1994). "Development of Analytical Tools for Evaluating Operations of Light Rail at Grade Within an Urban Signal System." Final Report No. FHWA/TX-94/1278-4F, Texas Transportation Institute, College Station, Texas.

¹⁸ Bates, M., and L. Lee. (1989). "At-Grade or Not at-Grade: The Early Traffic Question in Light Rail Transit Route Planning." TRB Special Report 221, Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, Washington, DC.

¹⁹ Islam, M. T., J. Tiwana, A. Bhowmick, and T. Z. Qiu. (2016). "Design of LRT Signal Priority to Improve Arterial Traffic Mobility." *Journal of Transportation Engineering* 142(9):04016034.

²⁰ Eichler, M, and C. F. Daganzo. (2006). "Bus Lanes with Intermittent Priority: Strategy Formulae and an Evaluation." *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological* 40(9): 731–44.

²¹ Chiabaut, N., M. Küng, M. Menendez, and L. Leclercq. (2018). "Perimeter Control as an Alternative to Dedicated Bus Lanes: A Case Study." *Transportation Research Record* 2672: 110–20.

²² Chiabaut, N., and Barcet, A. (2019). "Demonstration and Evaluation of an Intermittent Bus Lane Strategy." *Public Transport* 11(3): 443–56.

²³ Kattan, L., A. G. de Barros, and H. Saleemi . (2013). "Travel Behavior Changes and Responses to Advanced Traveler Information in Prolonged and Large-Scale Network Disruptions: A Case Study of West LRT Line Construction in the City of Calgary." *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology Behaviour* 21: 90–102.

²⁴McLeod, D. S., L. Elefteriadou, and L. Jin. (2012). "Travel Time Reliability as a Performance Measure: Applying Florida's Predictive Model to an Entire Freeway System." *Institute of Transportation Engineers - ITE Journal* 82(11): 43–47.

²⁵ Federal Highway Administration (FHWA). (2005). "Travel Time Reliability: Making It There on Time, All the Time." https://ops.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/tt_reliability/TTR_Report.htm (accessed on June 26, 2019).

²⁶ Wakabayashi, H., K. Asaoka, Y. Iida, and H. Kameda. (2003). "Mode Choice Model with Travel Time Reliability and Commuters' Travel Behavior before/after a Major Public Transportation Service Closure." In The Network Reliability of Transport: Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

²⁷ Pulugurtha, S. S., P. Penmetsa, and V. R. Duddu. (2017). "Monetizing Reliability to Evaluate the Impact of Transportation Alternatives." Final Report, Submitted to North Carolina Department of Transportation.

²⁸ Yedlin, M., and E. B. Lieberman. (1981). "Analytic and Simulation Studies of Factors That Influence Bus-Signal-Priority Strategies (Abridgment)." *Transportation Research Record* 798: 26– 29. ²⁹ Gomes, G., A. May, and R. Horowitz . (2004). "Congested Freeway Microsimulation Model Using Vissim." *Transportation Research Record* 1876(1): 71–81.

³⁰ Ban, X., L. Chu, and H. Benouar. (2008). "Bottleneck Identification and Calibration for Corridor Management Planning." *Transportation Research Record* 1999: 40–53.

³¹ Stirzaker, C., and H. Dia. (2007). "Evaluation of Transportation Infrastructure Management Strategies Using Microscopic Traffic Simulation." *Journal of Infrastructure Systems* 13(2): 168–74.

³² Marwah, B. R., and B. Singh. (2000). "Level of Service Classification for Urban Heterogeneous Traffic: A Case Study of Kanpur Metropolis." Paper presented at the fourth international symposium on Highway Capacity, Hawaii.

³³ Wolf, D. E. (1999). "Cellular Automata for Traffic Simulations." *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications* 263(1–4): 438–451. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4371(98)00536-6.

³⁴ Deo, P. (2007). "Heterogeneous Motorised Traffic Flow Modelling Using Cellular Automata." Doctoral Dissertation, Dublin City University, Ireland.

³⁵ Gundaliya, P. J., T. V. Mathew, and S. L. Dhingra. (2008). "Heterogeneous Traffic Flow Modelling for an Arterial Using Grid Based Approach." *Journal of Advanced Transportation* 42(4): 467–91.

³⁶ Tonguz, O. K., W. Viriyasitavat, and F. Bai. (2009). "Modeling Urban Traffic: A Cellular Automata Approach." *IEEE Communications Magazine* 47(5): 142–50.

³⁷ Yuan, Y., W. Wan, and R. Chang. (2013). "Parallel Microscopic Traffic Simulation on the Basis of Road Network-Based Cellular Automata." IET International Conference on Smart and Sustainable City 2013 (ICSSC 2013), Shanghai, China, August 19–20.

³⁸ Vanajakshi, L., S. Subramanian, and R. Sivannandan. (2009). "Travel Time Prediction under Heterogeneous Traffic Conditions Using Global Positioning System Data from Buses." *IET Intelligent Transport Systems* 3(1): 1–9.

³⁹ Coppola, P., and L. Rosati. (2009). "Simulation-Based Evaluation of Advanced Public Transportation Information Systems (Aptis)." In Schedule-Based Modeling of Transportation Networks, Springer, Boston, MA, 1–21.

⁴⁰ Kinderyte-Poskiene, J., and E. Sokolovskij. (2008). "Traffic Control Elements Influence on Accidents, Mobility and the Environment." *Transport* 23(1): 55–58.

⁴¹ Wu, J., E. Radwan, and H. Abou-Senna. (2018). "Determination If Vissim and Ssam Could Estimate Pedestrian-Vehicle Conflicts at Signalized Intersections." *Journal of Transportation Safety Security* 10(6): 572–85.

⁴² Kim, D., and S. Park. (2019). "The Impact Analysis of Leading Pedestrian Interval Using Surrogate Safety Assessment Model." *Journal of Korean Society of Transportation* 37(3): 232–44.

⁴³ Charlotte Area Transit System (CATS) website. (2018). "Lynx Blue Line." www.charlottenc.gov/cats/rail/lynx-blue-line/Pages/default.aspx (accessed on April 27, 2018).

⁴⁴ Charlotte Area Transit System (CATS). (2019). "Transit Vision." www.charlottenc.gov/cats/newsroom/Documents/2030-Transit-Vision.pdf (accessed on June 25, 2019).

⁴⁵ Charlotte Department of Transportation (CDoT). (2017b). "Charlotte Walks Pedestrian Plan." www.charltenc.gov/Transportation/Programs/Documents/Charlotte%20WALKS%20Adopted %20Plan%20-%20February%202017.pdf (accessed on June 25, 2019).

⁴⁶ Charlotte Department of Transportation (CDoT). (2017a). "Charlotte Bikes." www.charlottenc.gov/Transportation/Programs/Documents/Charlotte%20BIKES%20Final.pdf (accessed on June 25, 2019).

⁴⁷ Charlotte Department of Transportation (CDoT). (2018). "Shared Mobility E-Scooter Plan." www.charlottenc.gov/Transportation/Programs/Documents/2018-1126-DRAFT-E-ScooterPlan.pdf (accessed on June 25, 2019).

⁴⁸ Wisconsin Department of Transportation (WsDOT). (2019). "Intersection Volume Balancing Tool Guidebook." https://wisconsindot.gov/dtsdManuals/traffic-ops/programs/analysis/int-userguide.pdf (accessed on July 25, 2020).

Bibliography

- American Public Transportation Association (APTA). (2019). "Public Transportation Ridership Report." www.apta.com/research-technical-resources/transit-statistics/ridership-report/ (accessed on June 25, 2019).
- Arrington, G. B., and R. Cervero. (2008). "Effects of TOD on Housing, Parking, and Travel." TCRP Report 128, Transportation Research Board of the National Academies, Washington, DC.
- Ban, X., L. Chu, and H. Benouar. (2007). "Bottleneck Identification and Calibration for Corridor Management Planning." *Transportation Research Record* 1999: 40–53.
- Bates. M., and L. Lee. (1982). "At-Grade or Not At-Grade: The Early Traffic Question in Light Rail Transit Route Planning. In Light Rail Transit: New System Successes at Affordable Prices." TRB Special Report 221, Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, Washington, DC.
- Black, A. (1993). "The Recent Popularity of Light Rail Transit in North America." *Journal of Planning Education and Research* 12(2): 150–159.
- Chandler, C., and L. A. Hoel. (2004). "Effects of Light Rail Transit on Traffic Congestion." Publication UVACTS-5-14-68. VA: Center for Transportation Studies, University of Virginia, Charlottesville.
- Charlotte Area Transit System (CATS) website. (2018). "LYNX Blue Line, Charlotte." www.charlottenc.gov/cats/rail/lynx-blue-line/Pages/default.aspx (accessed on April 27, 2018).
- Charlotte Area Transit System (CATS). (2019). "Transit Vision 2030 Vision." www.charlottenc.gov/cats/newsroom/Documents/2030-Transit-Vision.pdf (accessed on June 25, 2019).
- Charlotte Department of Transportation (CDoT). (2017a). "Charlotte Bikes Pedestrian Plan." www.charlottenc.gov/Transportation/Programs/Documents/Charlotte%20BIKES%20Fi nal.pdf (accessed on June 25, 2019).
- Charlotte Department of Transportation (CDoT). (2017b). "Charlotte Walks Pedestrian Plan." www.charltenc.gov/Transportation/Programs/Documents/Charlotte%20WALKS%20Ad opted%20Plan%20-%20February%202017.pdf (accessed on June 25, 2019).

- Charlotte Department of Transportation (CDoT). (2018). "Shared Mobility E-Scooter Plan." www.charlottenc.gov/Transportation/Programs/Documents/2018-1126-DRAFT-E-ScooterPlan.pdf (accessed on June 25, 2019).
- Charlotte Stories. (2018). "Here's Why Charlotte Became One of The Fastest Growing Cities in The Country Recently." www.charlottestories.com/heres-charlotte-became-fastestgrowing-city-country-past-decade/ (accessed on June 25, 2019).
- Chiabaut, N., and Barcet, A. (2019). "Demonstration and Evaluation of Intermittent Bus Lane Strategy." *Public Transport* 11(3): 443-456.
- Chiabaut, N., M. Küng, M. Menendez, and L. Leclercq. (2018). "Perimeter Control as an Alternative to Dedicated Bus Lanes: A Case Study." *Transportation Research Record* 2672(20): 110–120.
- Clark, R. R. (1984). "General Guidelines for the Design of Light Rail Transit Facilities in Edmonton." Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. www.trolleycoalition.org (accessed on April 26, 2018).
- Coppola, P., and L. Rosati. (2009). "Simulation-based Evaluation of Advanced Public transportation Information Systems (APTIS)." In Schedule-Based Modeling of Transportation Networks, Springer, Boston, MA, 1–21.
- Deo, P. (2007). "Heterogeneous Motorised Traffic Flow Modelling using Cellular Automata." Doctoral Dissertation, Dublin City University, Ireland.
- Eichler, M., and C. F. Daganzo. (2006). "Bus Lanes with Intermittent Priority: Strategy Formulae and an Evaluation." *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological* 40(9): 731–744.
- Ewing, R., G. Tian, and A. Spain. (2014). "Effect of Light-Rail Transit on Traffic in a Travel Corridor." *Journal of Public Transportation* 17(4): 93–113.
- Federal Highway Administration (FHWA). (2005). "Travel Time Reliability: Making It There on Time, All the Time." https://ops.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/tt_reliability/TTR_Report.htm (accessed on June 26, 2019).
- Fu, C. (2018). "Research on Organization and Optimization for Pedestrians Crossing Street Intersection in Cities Based on Vissim." In 3rd International Conference on Judicial, Administrative and Humanitarian Problems of State Structures and Economic Subjects (JAHP 2018), Atlantis Press.

- Garrett, T. A. (2004). "Light Rail Transit in America: Policy Issues and Prospects for Economic Development." Unpublished Manuscript, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, Research Department.
- Gomes, G., A. May, and R. Horowitz. (2004). "Congested Freeway Microsimulation Model using Vissim." *Transportation Research Record* 1876(1): 71–81.
- Gundaliya, P. J., T. V. Mathew, and S. L. Dhingra. (2008). "Heterogeneous Traffic Flow Modelling for an Arterial using Grid Based Approach." *Journal of Advanced Transportation* 42(4): 467–491.
- Islam, M. T., J. Tiwana, A. Bhowmick, and T. Z. Qiu. (2016). "Design of LRT Signal Priority to Improve Arterial Traffic Mobility." *Journal of Transportation Engineering* 142(9): 04016034.
- Kattan, L., A. G. de Barros, and H. Saleemi. (2013). "Travel Behavior changes and Responses to Advanced Traveler Information in Prolonged and Large-scale Network Disruptions: A Case Study of West LRT Line Construction in the City of Calgary." *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behavior* 21: 90–102.
- Kim, D., & Park, S. (2019). "The Impact Analysis of Leading Pedestrian Interval using Surrogate Safety Assessment Model." *Journal of Korean Society of Transportation* 37(3): 232–244.
- Kinderyte-Poskiene, J., and E. Sokolovskij. (2008). "Traffic Control Elements Influence on Accidents, Mobility and the Environment." *Journal of Transport* 23(1): 55–58.
- Knowles, R. D. (1992). "Light Rail Transport." In Whitelegg, J. (Ed.), *Traffic Congestion: Is There a Way Out?* Leading Edge Press & Publishing Ltd., Hawes, 107–130.
- Knowles, R. D. (1996). "Transport Impacts of Greater Manchester's Metrolink Light Rail System." *Journal of Transport Geography* 4: 1–14.
- Lane, B. W. (2008). "Significant Characteristics of the Urban Rail Renaissance in the United States: A Discriminant Analysis." *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* 42(2): 279–295.
- Linda, S. T. E. G. (2003). "Can Public Transport Compete with the Private Car?" *LATSS Research* 27(2): 27–35.
- Litman, T. (2012). "Rail Transit in America: A Comprehensive Evaluation of Benefits." www.vtpi.org (accessed on April 26, 2018).

- Mackett, R. L., and M. Edwards. (1998). "The Impact of New Urban Public Transport Systems: Will the Expectations be Met?" *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* 32: 231–245.
- Marwah, B. R., and B. Singh. (2000). "Level of Service Classification for Urban Heterogeneous Traffic: A Case Study of Kanpur Metropolis." Transportation Research Circular # E-C018, 4th International Symposium of Highway Capacity, 271–286.
- McLeod, D. S., L. Elefteriadou, and L. Jin. (2012). "Travel Time Reliability as a Performance Measure: Applying Florida's Predictive Model to an Entire Freeway System." *Institute of Transportation Engineers - ITE Journal* 82(11): 43–47.
- PTV Group. (2019). PTV Vissim 9 User Manual. Karlsruhe, Germany.
- Pulugurtha, S. S., P. Penmetsa, and V. R. Duddu. (2017). "Monetizing Reliability to Evaluate the Impact of Transportation Alternatives." Final Report, Submitted to North Carolina Department of Transportation, Raleigh, NC.
- Schrank, D., B. Eisele, T. Lomax, and J. Bak. (2015). "The 2015 Urban Mobility Report." College Station, TX: Texas Transportation Institute, Texas A&M University, Texas.
- Sierpiński, G. (2011). "Travel Behaviour and Alternative Modes of Transportation." In International Conference on Transport Systems Telematics, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 86–93.
- Stirzaker, C., and H. Dia. (2007). "Evaluation of Transportation Infrastructure Management Strategies using Microscopic Traffic Simulation." *Journal of Infrastructure Systems* 13(2): 168–174.
- Tonguz, O. K., W. Viriyasitavat, and F. Bai. (2009). "Modeling Urban Traffic: A Cellular Automata Approach." *IEEE Communications Magazine* 47(5): 142–150.
- TTI. (2015). "2015 Urban Mobility Score Card." https://static.tti.tamu.edu/tti.tamu.edu/documents/mobility-scorecard-2015.pdf (accessed on June 26, 2019).
- Vanajakshi, L., S. Subramanian, and R. Sivannandan. (2009). "Travel Time Prediction under Heterogeneous Traffic Conditions using Global Positioning System Data from Buses." *IET Intelligent Transport Systems* 3(1): 1–9.

- Venglar, S., D. Fambro, and C. Walters. (1994). "Development of Analytical Tools for Evaluating Operations of Light Rail at Grade Within an Urban Signal System." Final Report No. FHWA/TX-94/1278-4F, Texas Transportation Institute, College Station, Texas.
- Vuchic, V. R. (2017). "Urban Transit: Operations, Planning, and Economics." John Wiley & Sons.
- Wakabayashi, H., K. Asaoka, Y. Iida, and H. Kameda. (2003). "Mode Choice Model with Travel Time Reliability and Commuters' Travel Behavior before/after a Major Public Transportation Service Closure," in Bell, M. and Iida, Y. (Eds.), *The Network Reliability of Transport*. Emerald Group Publishing Limited, 171–188.
- Wisconsin Department of Transportation (WsDOT). (2019). "Intersection Volume Balancing Tool Guidebook", https://wisconsindot.gov/dtsdManuals/trafficops/programs/analysis/int-userguide.pdf (accessed on July 25, 2020).
- Wolf, D. E. (1999). "Cellular Automata for Traffic Simulations." *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications* 263(1–4): 438–451.
- Wu, J., E. Radwan, and H. Abou-Senna. (2018). "Determination if Vissim and SSAM Could Estimate Pedestrian-Vehicle Conflicts at Signalized Intersections." *Journal of Transportation Safety & Security* 10(6): 572–585.
- Yedlin, M., and E. B. Lieberman. (1981). "Analytic and Simulation Studies of Factors that Influence Bus-Signal-Priority Strategies (Abridgment)." *Transportation Research Record* 798: 26-29.
- Young, J. (2015). "Infrastructure: Mass Transit in 19th-and 20th-Century Urban America." In Oxford Research Encyclopedia of American History.
- Yuan, Y., W. Wan, and R. Chang. (2013). "Parallel Microscopic Traffic Simulation on the Basis of Road Network-based Cellular Automata." IET International Conference on Smart and Sustainable City 2013 (ICSSC 2013), Shanghai, China, August 19–20.

About the Authors

Swapneel Rao Kodupuganti, MS

Mr. Swapneel Rao Kodupuganti is pursuing his PhD in Infrastructure and Environmental Systems (INES) program at the University of North Carolina at Charlotte. He earned his master's degree from the University of North Carolina at Charlotte. His areas of interest are transportation planning, traffic operations, simulation and modeling of transportation facilities, and traffic safety.

Sonu Mathew, PhD

Dr. Sonu Mathew, recently, graduated with his PhD in Infrastructure and Environmental Systems (INES) program at the University of North Carolina at Charlotte. He earned his master's degree from Sardar Vallabhai National Institute of Technology, Surat, India. His areas of interest are transportation planning, traffic flow modeling and simulation, Geographic Information Systems (GIS) applications, and traffic safety.

Srinivas S. Pulugurtha, PhD

Dr. Srinivas S. Pulugurtha, PE, F. ASCE is currently working as Professor & Research Director of the Department of Civil & Environmental Engineering at The University of North Carolina at Charlotte. He is also currently directing the Infrastructure, Design, Environment, and Sustainability (IDEAS) Center at the University of North Carolina at Charlotte.

MTI FOUNDER

Hon. Norman Y. Mineta

MTI BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Founder, Honorable Norman Mineta* Secretary (ret.), US Department of Transportation

Chair, Abbas Mohaddes President & COO Econolite Group Inc.

Vice Chair, Will Kempton Executive Director Sacramento Transportation Authority

Executive Director, Karen Philbrick, PhD* Mineta Transportation Institute San José State University

Winsome Bowen Chief Regional Transportation Strategy Facebook

David Castagnetti Co-Founder Mehlman Castagnetti Rosen & Thomas

Maria Cino Vice President America & U.S. Government Relations Hewlett-Packard Enterprise Grace Crunican** Owner Crunican LLC

Donna DeMartino Managing Director Los Angeles-San Diego-San Luis Obispo Rail Corridor Agency

Nuria Fernandez^{**} General Manager & CEO Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority (VTA)

John Flaherty Senior Fellow Silicon Valley American Leadership Form

William Flynn * President & CEO Amtrak

Rose Guilbault Board Member Peninsula Corridor Joint Powers Board

Ian Jefferies* President & CEO Association of American Railroads **Diane Woodend Jones** Principal & Chair of Board Lea + Elliott, Inc.

David S. Kim* Secretary California State Transportation Agency (CALSTA)

Therese McMillan Executive Director Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC)

Bradley Mims President & CEO Conference of Minority Transportation Officials (COMTO)

Jeff Morales Managing Principal InfraStrategies, LLC

Dan Moshavi, PhD* Dean, Lucas College and Graduate School of Business San José State University

Toks Omishakin* Director California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) **Takayoshi Oshima** Chairman & CEO Allied Telesis, Inc.

Paul Skoutelas* President & CEO American Public Transportation Association (APTA)

Beverley Swaim-Staley President Union Station Redevelopment Corporation

Jim Tymon* Executive Director American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO)

Larry Willis* President Transportation Trades Dept., AFL-CIO

* = Ex-Officio ** = Past Chair, Board of Trustees

Directors

Karen Philbrick, PhD Executive Director

Hilary Nixon, PhD Deputy Executive Director

Asha Weinstein Agrawal, PhD Education Director National Transportation Finance Center Director

Brian Michael Jenkins National Transportation Security Center Director

